
Date Published: 9 March 2020     

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 17 March 2020 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 4) Andrea Clarke

4  Public Questions 

To answer any written questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 10 
March 2020. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair

5  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 10 March 2020. Please send questions to the 
Chief Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair 

6  Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update 

The Board to receive a verbal update from the Gloucestershire Director of 
Public Health.

Sarah Scott

7  Climate change and air quality (Pages 5 - 36) Charlotte 
Bigland, Philip 
Williams

8  Agreement of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(Pages 37 - 62)

Zoe Clifford

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

9  Housing and health priority update on progress (Pages 63 - 70) Anne Brinkhoff

10  Child Friendly Gloucestershire strategy - Update (Pages 71 - 80) Andy Dempsey, 
Dame Janet 
Trotter

11  Safer Gloucestershire Update on Activity (Pages 81 - 84) Chris Brierley

12  Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (Pages 85 - 90) Sarah Scott

INFORMATION ITEM

13  New strategies and plans Sarah Scott

Membership – Nigel Adams (Cotswold District Council), Wayne Bowcock (Chief Fire Officer), 
Chris Brierley (Representing Police and Crime Commissioner), Anne Brinkhoff (Gloucester City 
Council), Keith Gerrard (Stroud District Council), ACC Craig Holden (Representing the Chief 
Constable), Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Darren Knight 
(Cheltenham Borough Council), Deborah Lee (Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), 
Bob Lloyd-Smith (Healthwatch Gloucestershire), David Owen (GFirstLEP), Rachel Pearce (NHS 
England), Angela Potter (Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust), 
Dr Hein Le Roux (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Sarah Scott (Director of Public 
Health), Dr Andy Seymour (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Chris Spencer 
(Director of Children's Services), Rob Weaver (Tewkesbury Borough Council), 
Margaret Willcox OBE (Director of Adult Services) and Peter Williams (Forest of Dean District 
Council) Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Carole Allaway Martin and Cllr Kathy Williams

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 
21 January 2020 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Nigel Adams
Chris Brierley
Cllr Tim Harman
Mary Hutton
Darren Knight
Deborah Lee
Bob Lloyd-Smith
David Owen

Dr Hein Le Roux
Sarah Scott
Dr Andy Seymour (Vice-Chairman)
Chris Spencer
Rob Weaver
Margaret Willcox OBE
Peter Williams

Substitutes: John Campbell (In place of Angela Potter)
Gavin Roberts (In place of Wayne Bowcock)

Apologies: Cllr Richard Boyles, Anne Brinkhoff, Wayne Bowcock and ACC Craig 
Holden

Also in attendance: Dame Janet Trotter
Andy Dempsey - Director of Partnerships & Strategy
John James - Strategic Intelligence Manager

1. TRIBUTE TO CLLR ROGER WILSON 
The Vice Chair led the Board in a tribute to Cllr Roger Wilson who had chaired the Health 
and Wellbeing Board from 13 July 2017 until his death on Sunday 8 December 2019. 
Members of the Board held a minute silence to reflect on their personal memories of 
Roger.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received.

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
No public questions were received.

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions were received.

5. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
No members’ questions were received.

6. HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEMBERSHIP 
6.1 The Vice Chair informed the Board that the Primary Care Network representative would be 

Dr Hein le Roux. Primary Care Networks were evolving and once more established the 
representative on the Board could be reconsidered. 

6.2 The Board agreed to note the changes in membership; and that the changes be submitted 
to the county council’s Constitution Committee in order to update the council Constitution.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

7. LONG TERM PLAN UPDATE 
7.1 The Accountable Officer, Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG), 

presented an update on the progress of development of the Long Term Plan – One 
Gloucestershire Approach. (For information the presentation slides were uploaded to the 
council website and included in the minute book.)

7.2 The Board welcomed the update and that the plan included reducing inequalities, and an 
increased prominence of children and young people’s needs. Members agreed that this 
represented a robust approach to planning, and that it reflected an understanding of the 
level of need in the county and how to respond. It was also good to be able to see the 
synergy with the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

7.3 There were concerns as to the affordability of the plan and recognised that there would be 
difficult decisions to be made going forward. It would be important for the Board to have a 
role in deciding what the overarching ambitions would be. It was acknowledged that all 
partners would need to make the most effective use of the resources available to them.

7.4 The Board noted the update and would consider whether to receive the delivery plans at 
future meetings.

8. REPORT FROM THE GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
AND SAFER GLOUCESTERSHIRE DEVELOPMENT SESSION ON 5 
NOVEMBER 2019 

8.1 Board members who had attended the joint development session agreed that it had been a 
worthwhile exercise, and agreed to hold another joint session at the end of the year. 

8.2 The Board agreed to the recommendations in the report, in particular the need to 
rationalise the number of sub groups in operation. The Board asked that the Director of 
Public Health and the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner take these points away and 
submit an update report to the next meeting of the Board on 17 March 2020.

9. FINALISATION OF THE GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
STRATEGY 

9.1 In response to questions and mindful of the new Board members present the Director of 
Public Health (DPH) informed the Board of the process undertaken to develop this strategy 
and the number of iterations that the strategy had been through; they also assured Board 
members that the focus of the strategy was about where the Board could add value.

9.2 Whilst acknowledging the work that had gone into the development of the strategy there 
was a view that, given the declared climate change crisis and its impact on health and 
wellbeing, consideration should be given to referencing this  in the strategy. The Board was 
informed that Leadership Gloucestershire had received a paper on climate change at its 
last meeting (19 December 2019). The Accountable Officer (GCCG) stated that it would be 
helpful for Leadership Gloucestershire to consider the role of the Board in its discussions 
on this matter. 

9.3 The DPH informed members that the Air Quality Group reported into the Board with an 
update due on 17 March 2020. The scope of this report could be expanded to include 
information on the system wide approach to climate change in order to gain a detailed 
understanding of what the current position is with regard to planned activity and where the 
Board could add value. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

9.4 It was commented that rather than just see the NHS as the ‘anchor institution’ for health 
inequalities that all organisations should consider their role in this regard. It was agreed 
that this issue needed further exploration and was one that the Board could look at in depth 
at a future development meeting. 

9.5 It was suggested that the Health members of the Board identify a lead for the mental 
wellbeing element of the strategy.

9.6 In response to a question it was explained that the data in the strategy was current, but that 
ahead of the publication of the final version officers would do a final check to ensure that 
the most up to date information was included in the strategy document. 

9.7 It was agreed that the Board should consider its role in the climate change agenda and that 
the strategy would not be signed off until there has been the opportunity to do this. It was 
agreed that the strategy  would come back to the meeting on 17 March 2020. 

10. CHILDREN'S HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY AND CHILD FRIENDLY 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

10.1 Board members were in full support of this programme of work and agreed that it was 
important to ensure that there was sufficient focus on outcomes for children and young 
people. 

10.2 The Board acknowledged that this work needed to be dynamic and ensure that young 
people were active participants in its development. Children could not wait for this work to 
happen – a year was a long time in the life of a child/young person; the work needed robust 
timelines to drive it forward. 

10.3 In response to questions and comments it was made clear that no one was saying that 
there was not a lot of work already in place; the difference here was the specific focus on 
outcomes and the need to be clear about where high impact changes could be achieved. 
Nothing could start until there was a coherent vision statement. 

10.4 The Board therefore agreed:
 To the convening of a working group of sector and agency leads to develop a draft 

strategy for approval in principle by the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Board prior to a wider consultation and engagement exercise over the early 
summer 2020. The aim being to bring back a draft document to the next meeting of 
the health and Wellbeing Board 

 To continue to work with Child Friendly Gloucestershire to explore how the lived 
experience of children and young people can inform the development of any 
vision/plan and in its delivery over time.

11. JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT (JSNA) REFRESH 
11.1 The Board agreed that good intelligence was an essential building block for local health 

planning, and would have a significant role in the development of the One Gloucestershire 
Way. How to share this data in an open and accessible manner was an important factor. 

11.2 The Board therefore agreed to delegate the authority for developing this approach to the 
JSNA working group to develop the new JSNA.

CHAIRPERSON

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Meeting concluded at 11.37 am

Page 4



1

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

DRAFT 

Report Title Climate Change and Air Quality: An update on activity and review of 
options for where the Health and Wellbeing Board can add value

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Author Dr Charlotte Bigland, Public Health Specialty Registrar

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  
This paper outlines the current Gloucestershire wide approach to and actions on 
climate change and air quality.  It also looks at what best practice advice is available 
for Health and Wellbeing Boards around climate change activity.  It goes on to 
consider how the Health and Wellbeing Board could reflect its commitment to climate 
change in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy as well as other ways it could add 
maximal value around this agenda.  
Recommendations to Board: 
 To review the information contained on current climate change and air quality 

activity across the county and on ways  the Health and Wellbeing Board could  
add value on climate change

  To produce a formal position statement on climate change and air quality to 
complement the Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy

 To seek to influence the nascent Gloucestershire Climate Emergency Board at 
multiple levels to ensure HWB expertise is contributed

 To adopt a system to formally consider the climate change implications of all 
proposals that come before the Health and Wellbeing Board

 Member organisations agree to continue to collaborate and learn from each other 
on climate change activity

Financial/Resource Implications: 
None identified

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



2

Action on Climate Change and Air Quality in Gloucestershire:
A Report for the Health and Wellbeing Board

1. Background to this document
At the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting on the 21 January 2020 the current draft of the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy was reviewed.  This strategy currently contains seven priorities which were 
agreed upon following an extensive prioritisation process.  However since this process took place the 
climate change agenda has gathered significant momentum and during the January meeting the 
issue of whether the priorities should be changed to reflect this was raised.  It was therefore agreed 
that the Board should formally consider its role in tackling climate change and how best to reflect 
the Board’s commitment to this agenda in the Health and Wellbeing Board strategy.  

In addition, in May 2019 the Health and Wellbeing Board approved the Air Quality and Health 
Strategy.  It was agreed at this point that in six months time an update on progress, and also what 
member organisations were doing to support improved air quality should be provided to the Board.  

As a result, it was agreed that a paper outlining the current Gloucestershire wide activity on climate 
change and air quality would be brought to the Board, along with options for consideration on how 
the board could optimise its impact in this arena.  

This paper is to review the current action on and approach to air quality and climate change in 
Gloucestershire, and to make recommendations on where the Helath and Wellbeing Board can add 
the most value to this agenda.  

2. National guidance available to Health and Wellbeing Boards around 
taking action on climate change and air quality

In preparing this paper a rapid review of guidance1 2345 was undertaken.  This focussed on looking at 
best practice guidance documents for public sector, and particularly health and social care, 
organisations when taking action on climate change and the related area of air quality.  

All the documents identified outlined a variety of components required for an effective climate 
change response and action plan.  There was good agreement between the approaches advocated in 
the identified sources with a focus on both mitigation (reducing the causes of climate change) and 
adaptation (making changes to negate and prepare for the effects of a changing climate). 

1 Sustainable, resilient, healthy people and places: A sustainable development strategy for the NHS, Public 
Health and Social Care System, Sustainable Development Unit, Crown Publishers, 2014
2 Independent Panel on Climate Change, 5th Assessment Report:  Synthesis Report  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ipcc-5th-assessment-report-synthesis-report 
3 Doing Well By Doing Good: How Business Can Tackle the Climate Emergency Speech Feb 
2020https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/doing-well-by-doing-good-how-business-can-tackle-the-
climate-emergency
4 Sustainability Reporting Guidance for Public Sector Bodies, HM Treasury 2019 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832776/
sustainability_reporting__guidance_2019-20.pdf 
5  Friends of the Earth, 33 Actions Local Authorities can take on Climate Change 
https://policy.friendsoftheearth.uk/insight/33-actions-local-authorities-can-take-climate-change 

Page 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ipcc-5th-assessment-report-synthesis-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/doing-well-by-doing-good-how-business-can-tackle-the-climate-emergency
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/doing-well-by-doing-good-how-business-can-tackle-the-climate-emergency
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832776/sustainability_reporting__guidance_2019-20.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832776/sustainability_reporting__guidance_2019-20.pdf
https://policy.friendsoftheearth.uk/insight/33-actions-local-authorities-can-take-climate-change


3

Of the guidance documents identified, the most pertinent in a Health and Wellbeing Board context is 
the Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) document “Sustainable, Resilient, Healthy People & 
Places”1  which specifically discussed the role of Health and Wellbeing Boards can play addressing 
issues around climate change.  The Sustainable Development Unit is a national unit funded by Public 
Health England and the NHS and its remit is to support the health and social care sector to embed 
and promote sustainable development. The SDU suggested a focus on employing a modular 
approach to help strengthen action within locally determined priorities around:

1. Reducing carbon emissions
2. Minimising waste and pollution 
3. Making the best of scarce natural resources
4. Building resilience to a changing climate
5. Nurturing community strengths and assets

It is recommended that these five actions are used as a framework by health and social care 
organisations to focus their climate change activity around.  The SDU also recommends that these 
actions are used at multiple levels to i.e. by local organisations, by Health and Wellbeing Boards 
locally and by national organisations.  This will result in a coordinated and optimised approach. 

3. What is currently happening across Gloucestershire 
Activity on climate change and air quality improvement is happening at many levels in many places 
in Gloucestershire.  This section outlines some of the key areas of activity.  It is not a comprehensive 
review of all activity at all levels but aims to highlight key areas.  

Overview of current climate change and air quality activity that has a whole county focus 

A. Climate Change

1. Carbon Neutral 2030
This initiative aims to ensure that Leadership Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions are reduced by 80% 
by 2030, aiming for 100% (‘Net Zero’)  through carbon offsetting.  In recognition of the fact that 
climate change is not a localised issue, this initiative is led by Leadership Gloucestershire and will be 
delivered in part through the Gloucestershire County Council Climate Change Strategy and the 
organisations that sign up to the ‘climate change manifesto’ contained within it.  A key aspect of 
delivering on this will be the joint recruitment of a senior climate change coordinator in Spring 2020.  
The structures through which Leadership Gloucestershire will achieve this have not yet been agreed 
and the climate change aspects of the Leadership Gloucestershire work are rapidly evolving. 

2. Gloucestershire County Council Climate Change Strategy
In December 2019 cabinet approved the Gloucestershire County Council Climate change strategy.  
This contained a number of components.  It launched the Gloucestershire County Council ‘climate 
change manifesto’ and intention to seek the support of partners across the county in delivering this 
(see appendix).  The strategy is accompanied by a five year rolling action plan.  In its first year this 
includes the launch of a £1 million climate change and air quality action fund to be invested across 
the county, as well as actions around boosting renewable energy use, improving green transport 
options and establishing a youth climate change panel.  Work is also underway to secure a behaviour 
change post to assist in delivery of this.  

Page 7



4

3. Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership Activity
The Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership (GLNP) is formed of over 30 organisations from public, 
private and third sector bodies from across the county.  Local Nature Partnerships are seen by Defra 
as the key figure in the local delivery of the Government's 25 Year Environment Plan.  Locally, the 
partnership provides a strong and innovative voice for the environment sector and activity has a 
focus on the natural environments and its role in climate change.  Detailed information on the range 
of projects is available on their website https://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/projects 
Gloucestershire County Councils public health team sit on the GLNP board.  

4. Local Transport Plan
The Local Transport Plan (LTP) is a living document setting out the transport strategy for 
Gloucestershire. It is the policy context for delivering infrastructure and promoting behaviour 
change that encourages active travel.  The LTP Review for 2019/20 is currently out for consultation.   
The review strengthens the links to the climate change agenda and reflects adopted Local Plans and 
their infrastructure requirements. It recognises the link between the newly introduced Local Cycling 
and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP), and looks towards a new time horizon, to 2041, to discuss 
future transport technologies and likely growth scenarios. More information is available from the 
following link.  https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-
2015-2031/ltp-review-201920-consultation/ 

5. Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy
This sustainable energy strategy sets out how Gloucestershire can play its part in achieving a very 
low carbon economy, enabling its businesses and citizens to capture the economic and social 
benefits of doing so. There is some action to be taken in the county that is common to all parts of 
the UK – such as improving the energy performance of buildings.  This strategy and its proposed 
actions also reflect the specific circumstances found in Gloucestershire and how they shape the 
county’s approach.  This is project managed by GFirst LEP and partnered with Gloucestershire 
County Council, and the Centre for Sustainable Energy as well as the Businesses that sit on the LEP’s 
Energy Business group.

6. Local Industrial Strategy 
This strategy is currently in draft form but ‘Green’ economic growth is one of its priorities.  The 
strategy identifies opportunities for Gloucestershire to be the greenest place to live and work in 
England and a ‘magnet county’ championing natural capital-based growth, creative green business 
development opportunities, and reducing its carbon emissions to net zero.  This is being led by GFirst 
LEP. 

7. Joint Core Strategy and Local Plans
A local plan is a statutory document that sets out the council’s vision and strategies for future 
development. Local plans are used to help in the determination of planning applications and in other 
planning related decisions.  The Joint Core Strategy (JCS) is currently a partnership between 
Gloucester City Council, Cheltenham Borough Council, and Tewkesbury Borough Council although 
this is being reviewed with Gloucestershire County Council potentially joining as a partner authority.  
The review is currently considering allocation of housing and employment land up to 2041.These 
plans are developed within the context of local sustainability.    

Page 8

https://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/projects
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2015-2031/ltp-review-201920-consultation/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2015-2031/ltp-review-201920-consultation/


5

B. Air Quality

1) Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy

Overview: 
The Health and Wellbeing Board provides overall governance for the Air Quality and Health 
Strategy’s development and implementation.  This Strategy was approved by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in May 2019 for implementation through the Gloucestershire Air Quality and 
Health Partnership Group.  This is a multi agency group with members drawn from around 15 
organisations across Gloucestershire.  

Key strands of the strategy are summarised in the table below

Vision
For organisations, professionals and the public across Gloucestershire to work together to 
improve air quality in the county and reduce the impact of air pollution on human health and 
the environment. To contribute to the vision of Gloucestershire as a prosperous, happy, 
healthy, and sustainable county
Aims Workstreams AQHP Sub groups
 Measured improvement in air 

quality
 Reduce impact of poor air 

quality
 Raise public awareness and 

understanding of  what 
people can do

 Improved understanding of 
AQ and impact locally

 Meet and exceed AQ targets

 Public Engagement
 AQ monitoring and Info
 Active Travel
 Planning and Policy
 ULEV
 Cleaner Fleet

 Active Travel
(Lead : Jo Atkins)

 Electric Vehicle  and 
Fleet
(Lead: Phil Cameron)

 Air quality  monitoring 
and behaviour change
(Lead: Sarah Clark)

Update on Air Quality and Health Partnership Board Activity
 Integration with Climate Change Activity and the wider system

o Given the overlap between air quality and health and climate change an effort has been 
made to realise the synergies between the two agendas and integrate activity across the 
wider system.  Across the systems relationships are being strengthened and information 
and best practice shared.  At the Gloucestershire County Council level the air quality and 
climate change teams now have integrated working between commissioning hubs.    

o Climate Change and Air Quality £1 million Action Fund Agreement.  Gloucestershire 
County Council Cabinet agreement to fund Climate Change and Air Quality Action Fund.  
There is explicit wording within the guiding principles that grants will be given priority if 
they support the aims of the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy.  There is a 
governance requirement that project funding will be granted in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities and the Director of Public Health..  

 Since the approval of the strategy in May 2019 the Air Quality and Health partnership has met 
three times.  Three working groups have been created and these subgroups have met to develop 
and start to deliver on action plans.  Highlights are given below.  

 Active Travel Sub Group
o Two questions have been added to the Pupil Wellbeing survey.  These will provide data 

on travel to/from school.  This will enable better monitoring and evaluation going 
forward.  

Page 9



6

o  Pilot trial of ‘Modeshift’ project has started in St. Gregory’s Primary school, Cheltenham 
(school was selected due to perception of air quality in the area).  10 schools will be 
approached to take part in the next stage (schools chosen using data on levels of obesity 
and deprivation) 

o Interest from schools around developing accredited school travel plans to ensure 
journeys to and from school are greener and safer

o Active Travel are promoting the national Sustrans Big Pedal challenge
o Business travel programmes are being developed.  It is hoped the climate change and air 

quality fund will help finance a pilot.  
 Electric Vehicle and Fleet Sub Group

o Gloucestershire County Council has commissioned an electric vehicle (EV) strategy which 
is in its final draft stages.  This has successfully identified many of the challenges 
associated with adopting emerging technology and how to proceed most effectively.  

o The group has forged strong relationships with Western Power Distribution and is co-
working to develop solutions for increased grid demands that will come with increased 
EV charging use.  Gloucestershire County Council has made a commitment to deliver 200 
EV charging points as part of its climate change strategy.

o Working with bus provider Stagecoach to influence clean air impact of fleet.  Immediate 
commitment secured to retrofit 10 buses to Euro 6 cleaner emission standard. This will 
have positive impact in air quality management areas.  The group is exploring a longer 
term commitment to phase out the diesel fleet

o Highways depot officers have commenced using electric and low emission vehicles and 
pool cars instead of diesel.  Plan to review Gloucestershire County Council fleet 
replacement strategy this year.  Sharing learning with partners

 Air Quality Monitoring and Behaviour Change Sub Group
o Air Quality monitoring has been increased in Cheltenham Borough Council.  They have 

commissioned a detailed assessment  of the data
o An amendment of the Cheltenham wide AQM areas to focus on specific local AQM areas 

has been approved by Cheltenham Borough Council cabinet 
o Parish council and resident groups are monitoring data in a variety of local areas.  This is 

useful in driving local engagement but complexities in  interpretation as the quality of 
the monitoring results is variable 

o Developing a plan to work with West Cheltenham employers around air quality issues 
using grant money from Defra  

o Gloucestershire County Council are exploring creating an air quality open data portal for 
the county.  It is hoped this can be used to help drive behaviour change

 Climate Change Survey October 2019
o This consisted of ~1,000 telephone interviews, ~2,000 online response and ~200 

businesses being surveyed.  It identified that air quality is of concern locally but is not in 
the top three concerns.  Changes in transport usage and mode were identified by 
respondents as area of potential behaviour change impact.  

Further more detailed information on what Health and Wellbeing Board members are doing at the 
organisational level around air quality can be found in the Appendix.  

Overview of current climate change and air quality activity that has a health and 
wellbeing focus 
The previous section highlighted countywide climate change focused initiatives.  Due to the links 
between climate change and health and wellbeing such initiative will have a secondary health and 
wellbeing impact.  This section looks more at activity that is primarily health and well being focussed 
but has strong climate change and air quality links.  

Page 10



7

There are a number of specific health and wellbeing focussed activity streams that are currently in 
place that have a strong linkage to climate change and air quality.  These are listed in the table 
below along with which of the five Sustainable Development Unit recommended climate change 
action priorities they contribute to. 

Table to show links between health and wellbeing focussed activity and climate change

Climate Change ActionDescription of Activity Lead 

Re
du

ci
ng

 
ca

rb
on

 
em

is
si

on
s

M
in

im
is

in
g 

w
as

te
 a

nd
 

po
llu

tio
n 

M
ak

in
g 

th
e 

be
st

 o
f s

ca
rc

e 
na

tu
ra

l 
re

so
ur

ce
s

Bu
ild

in
g 

re
si

lie
nc

e 
to

 a
 

ch
an

gi
ng

 
cl

im
at

e

N
ur

tu
rin

g 
co

m
m

un
ity

 
st

re
ng

th
s a

nd
 

as
se

ts

We Can Move – Active Design workstream 
 System mapping of active design that 

encourages physical activity, including 
active travel (walking and cycling)

Active Glos

  --  
Housing Conditions – energy efficiency / 

warm homes
 SWEA / Warm & Well
 Health Foundation / Design Council 

programme 

District 
Councils, 
CCG/GCC     

Gloucestershire Food Strategy
 Includes a People & Planet strand – with 

Public Health input – local growing and 
supply chains, access to nutritious food

GFirst LEP 
Agri-Food 
Group     

Air Quality and Health Strategy
 Public engagement, AQ monitoring and 

info
 Cleaner fleet and ULEV
 Active travel
 Planning and policy

GCC

    

Green Infrastructure / natural environment
 GI Pledge – signed by all local authorities 

and LEP
 Natural Capital – promoting development 

that protects and enhances natural 
environment 

 Naturally Healthy Leadership Group – 
nature on prescription, building evidence 
base

Glos LNP

    

Local Resilience Forum
 Emergency planning and preparedness 

forum for managing incidents of extreme 
heat, cold flooding and other extreme 
events

Local 
resilience 
forum -- -- --  

Public Health – Healthy Places activity
 Influencing planning policy to ensure 

development promotes design that is good 
for health and the environment (e.g. 
physical activity, green infrastructure)

 Health Impact Assessments on new 
developments

 Influencing other policy, e.g. transport

Public Health 
and Local 
Planning 
Authorities     

Further information on the wide range of activity that Health and Wellbeing Board members are 
doing at the organisational level can be found in the appendix.  

Page 11



8

4. How could the Health and Wellbeing Board add value to tackling climate 
change and improving air quality

Section 3 has outlined the volume and range of existing activity across the county around climate 
change and air quality.  It has also highlighted that there is a natural divide between climate change 
activity which has a clear health and wellbeing slant, and climate change activity where the agenda 
leadership and ownership already sits with another part of the system.  

The aim of this next section is to explore options for where and how the Health and Wellbeing Board 
can add the most value around climate change.  This will be considered specifically in terms of the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and then in terms of other areas of Health and Wellbeing Board 
potential influence.  

HWB strategy
The health and wellbeing strategy is a key area through which the Health and Wellbeing Board can 
add value on the climate change and air quality agenda.  There are a number of ways that climate 
change could be incorporated into the Health and Wellbeing Strategy that will reflect the 
importance that the Board places on this agenda.  These include the Board developing a position 
statement, adding and 8th priority and adding a third golden thread.  

Currently, at a county level, it is envisaged that the Gloucestershire Climate Change Emergency 
Board will be the Board that leads across the full climate change agenda and strategically co-
ordinates activity.  To reflect this, , the options presented below incorporate adding air quality and 
health as an 8th option, rather than the much broader option of the whole spectrum of climate 
change activity.    This is because this paper specifically focusses on where the Health and Wellbeing 
Board can add most value.  The full climate change agenda is too wide reaching and involves too 
many different sectors for the Health and Wellbeing Board to credibly lead it.  Instead, having air 
quality and health as a Health and Wellbeing priority  is analogous to the situation where the Health 
and Wellbeing Board does not lead on tackling the whole poverty agenda, but does lead  on 
addressing the health inequalities that ensue from living in poverty, and in this way adds maximum 
value.   

Page 12



9

Table to outline options for how best to reflect the importance of climate change in the Health 
and Wellbeing Board strategy

Option Pros Cons
1) Position 
statement on 
climate change
(Recommended)

 Highlights  links between climate 
change and health and wellbeing and 
its  importance to HWB 

 Could work synergistically with 
planned position statements on 
economy and transport

 Allows more flexibility than a golden 
thread as can encompass a wider 
remit across the whole system that is 
not limited to the 7 named  HWB 
priorities  

 Fits with Sustainable Development 
Unit recommendations for HWB 
strategy6

 Full position statement likely 
to be separate annexe to 
HWB strategy

2 Air Quality and 
Health as an  8th 
priority

 Highlights  links between climate 
change and health and wellbeing and 
its  importance to HWB

  Existing HWB sponsored strategy and 
governance routes

 Link with NHS Long Term Plan priority

 Would undermine the 
priority setting process that 
was carried out

 Already have 7 priorities, 8th 
may dilute focus and 
negatively impact 
deliverability across the 
board

3) Climate change 
as a “golden 
thread” 

 Highlights  links between climate 
change and health and wellbeing and 
its  importance to HWB 

 Contrived fit with some of 
the existing priorities

 Currently have two golden 
threads (health inequalities 
and the Gloucestershire 
Way; a third may dilute the 
impact of all three

6 Falls under recommendation that “sustainability is an identifiable component” of health and wellbeing 
strategy, HWB reports and JSNAs

Page 13



10

Other Points of Influence where the Health and Wellbeing Board could add value

Senior leadership strategic influence on the wider system – Providing a unified “Health and 
Wellbeing Voice”
The current working proposal is that Leadership Gloucestershire could provide countywide 
leadership of this agenda.  Under the current draft proposals which are still subject to agreement, 
there are a number of places that the Health and Wellbeing Board could meaningfully influence and 
shape the countywide agenda and activity around climate change.  In particular, there is a real 
opportunity for the Health and Wellbeing Board to provide leadership and expertise on the health 
inequalities agenda within climate change activity.  This is particularly important given that the 
impact of climate change is likely to be felt earlier and be more severe for those who are least well 
off.  The diagram below illustrates potential points of influence.  

Influence using other strategies that come to Health and Wellbeing Board 
As well as the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, there are a number of other strategies that come to 
Health and Wellbeing Board either for approval or for comment, and the Health and Wellbeing 
Board also has oversight of the contents of the JSNA.  This presents the Board with an opportunity to 
ensure that these documents include consideration of climate change and air quality and are 
optimised for positive impact.  The Sustainable Development Unit’s Five Priorities for Action 
identified in section 2 could provide a framework for this that could be intertwined particularly 
effectively with the Health and Wellbeing Board’s priorities around housing, physical activity and 
healthy behaviours (healthy weight). 

A simple way to implement this could be by including a “Climate Change Implications” section on the 
Health and Wellbeing Board papers front cover analogous to the one that asks for a summary of the 
“Financial/Resource Implications”.  

Page 14



11

Organisational Level Influence
In line with the model proposed earlier in the document, the maximum impact is achieved when 
there is synergy between what the individual organisations that make up the Health and Wellbeing 
Board do individually and as a collective board.  Additionally, as “anchor institutions” our 
organisations have a significant role to play in the contribution to the local economy, society and 
environment and can provide visible leadership via this mechanism.  

Examples of what individual organisations are doing on both climate change and air quality are 
included as an appendix to this document.  Collaboration with and learning from other organisations 
is likely to strengthen the individual organisational impact.  

Conclusions and Recommendations

Climate change presents a serious threat to population health and wellbeing.  This paper outlines 
that there is a wide range of climate change and air quality activity going on across the county and a 
number of ways  and levels at which the Health and Wellbeing Board can add value.

Recommendations
1) We recommend that the Health and Wellbeing Board produces a formal position statement on 

climate change and air quality
a) This can be used to guide influencing work across the wider system and incorporated into 

the Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2) We recommend that the Health and Wellbeing Board seeks to influences the nascent 

Gloucestershire Climate Emergency Board at multiple levels to ensure its expertise is 
contributed

3) We recommend that the Health and Wellbeing board adopts a system to formally consider the 
climate change implications of all proposals that come before it

4) We recommend that member organisations continue to collaborate and learn from each other 
on climate change activity

---- End ----

Appendix 1 contains a collation of the submitted organisational activity being taken around 
climate change and air quality 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
Action on Climate Change and Air Quality in Gloucestershire:

A Report for the Health and Wellbeing Board

Collation of Current Health and Wellbeing Board Member Organisations’ 
Activity on Air Quality and Climate Change

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service

Action Proposed outcome Air Quality (AQ) or 
Climate Change (CC)

Continue to focus work 
around fire prevention

Reduce likelihood and severity of fires to reduce 
impact on air quality

AQ

Continue to work with 
partners and other agencies 
(such as Environment 
Agency) at fire and other 
incidents

By continuing to focus on multi-agency working we 
can ensure that any impact from large scale fires and 
other incidents continues to minimise impact on air 
quality wherever possible

AQ

Continue to review fire 
appliance mobilising 

This will ensure that unnecessary fire appliance 
movements are reduced to a minimum, hence 
reducing emissions wherever possible

AQ &CC

Review working practices and 
encourage flexible working 
wherever possible

Encourage and support staff to work flexibly to 
reduce emissions produced by travel unless 
absolutely necessary

AQ &CC

Review of IT and 
communications strategy 

Review of strategy to include how we can support 
and encourage staff to use alternative digital 
solutions such as Skype for Business to reduce 
impact of travel to different meetings

AQ &CC

Encourage and support active 
travel

By encouraging and supporting staff to use active 
and green travel options as an alternative to driving 
into work our aim is to reduce the impact of 
emissions whilst improving health and wellbeing

AQ &CC

Review of fleet provision A review of fleet provision and replacement will 
ensure that electric vehicles (EVs) are considered 
when replacing fleet – particularly light fleet – 
including identifying any funding implications

AQ &CC

Air quality and climate 
change will be considered as 
part of planning

When planning and developing our integrated risk 
management plan (IRMP) we will ensure that 
improvement in AQ and consideration of CC are part 
of the strategic planning process for GFRS to reduce 
our impact on our communities

AQ & CC

Continue to work with GCC 
on estate initiatives

Support GCC estates team to improve use of energy 
within our buildings – e.g. change over to motion 
sensor lighting where possible, encourage recycling 
in our buildings and support GCC awareness 
campaigns

AQ & CC

Page 17



Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
 Gloucestershire CCG is committed to reducing carbon emissions and improving air quality; the 

CCG is currently in the process of collating data for the annual carbon report and updating the 
Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP) for 2020 to 2025. This will set out 
Gloucestershire CCG’s plans for reducing CO2 emissions between 2020 -2025 in line with the 
NHS carbon reduction targets; these are 34% by 2020 and 50% reduction by 2025. James Powell 
is the Lead Sustainability Manager and will be continuing to develop strategies and 
environmental policies for the CCG, this includes carbon reporting, SDMP and climate change 
adaption plans. 

 Gloucestershire CCG is based at Sanger House in Brockworth Gloucestershire. Sanger House is a 
modern office building and is designed and equipped to be energy efficient. The building 
provides an open planned working environment for circa 350 staff. Key features include LED 
lighting schemes with automatic sensors throughout; this encompasses all open planned office 
spaces, meeting rooms and washroom facilities. The external fabric of the property has also 
been designed to offset the effects from solar heat gain which optimises the energy efficiency of 
the air-conditioning system during the summer period.  This is achieved with the inclusion of 
fitted louvered windows, tinted glass, and white roughcast which has been applied to the 
external wall surfaces. All aspects of the buildings maintenance including fabric and engineering 
services is fully managed under sub-contract by NHS Property Services. A good comprehensive 
maintenance regime is vital for ensuring that the buildings energy efficiency is being optimised 
and that the working environment is suitable for staff and visitors.  

 Plans for improving air quality and reducing carbon emissions include; limiting unnecessary 
journeys to and from Sanger House by promoting video and telephone conferencing for 
meetings and supporting flexibility to work from home with further plans to introduce Skype for 
Business.  The 2019 Staff Survey revealed that 91% of respondents (73% response rate) had 
been able to work flexibly in their jobs. The benefits to this are two fold; it will reduce carbon 
emissions from travelling and commuting and has allowed the CCG the opportunity to introduce 
hot-desking as part of their workplace strategy supported by the replacement of desktop PCs 
with laptops, where required. This is resulting in reducing electric, gas and water consumption 
due to having less activity within the building. The CCG has also removed all deskside printers to 
reduce wasted paper and ink, printing now only takes place at a single location on each floor 
resulting in less IT equipment and therefore reduced energy consumption. 

 The CCG also offer an incentivised cycle to work scheme for those who live locally and choose to 
cycle to and from their place of work but also for those who like to keep active and fit on the 
weekends,  so far five members of staff have signed up to the cycle to work scheme. Plans are 
now underway to introduce electric vehicle charge points at nearby Edward Jenner Court; this 
project is being led by James Powell who is also the Lead Sustainability Manager for 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust. Once the project has been delivered it 
will provide CCG staff with access to four sockets for electric and hybrid plug-in vehicles. It is 
anticipated that the uptake of plug-in vehicles is likely to be high and the number of charge 
points will need to be increased should this scheme become popular with visitors and staff. The 
CCG has introduced an incentivised scheme for lift sharing; this scheme has proved to be 
successful, with members of staff sharing lifts for long distance journeys for work and corporate 
events. CCG Staff who share lifts are eligible to use the spaces located within the car park at 
Sanger House. 

Page 18



 The CCG has introduced Sustainability into its “Lunch and Learn” sessions to help promote and 
embed better practices for environmental sustainability. The first of these sessions was held 
prior to Christmas where staff members were able to engage in conversations about the festive 
period and its impact on the environment.  With this staff were able to share ideas to reduce the 
impact from festive waste, these included; recycling and reusing Christmas decorations and 
raising the awareness of the impacts associated with food waste, unwanted gifts and negative 
effects of deforestation for Christmas trees. The CCG plans to deliver another “Lunch and Learn” 
around Easter.

 CCG 2018/19 Core Greenhouse Gas Emissions
 Core 

Category
 2017-18 

CO2e 
tonnes

 2018-19 
CO2e 
tonnes

 Increase/decrease

 Electricity  166  144  -13.25%
 Gas  15.4  16.9  9.4%
 Business 

Travel
 105  113  7.62%

 Water  1.62  1.4  -13.58%
 Waste  2.54  0.24  -90.55%
 Total  290.56  275.54  -5.17%

 The 5% cut in CCG’s core emissions is due to a reduction in carbon emissions related to 
electricity, water use and waste disposal. 

 Electricity and business travel is the largest contributor to core carbon emissions. While 
emissions from electricity use have gone down by 13% due to increasing the decarbonisation of 
the grid, carbon emissions associated with business travel have increased by 8% due to an 
increase in travel by car and rail. 

 The carbon emissions embodied within water and waste disposal have decreased by 14% and 
90% respectively. The major reduction in waste emissions is due to the fact that, domestic waste 
is segregated at the waste plant with 73% going to heat recovery (Energy for Waste) and 22% for 
recycling, meaning that only 5% of waste was sent for landfill. 

Aspirational Plans for CCG

 Aspirational plans for CCG; as part of a joint strategy with GHC, our vision is to introduce a 
programme for Organisational Sustainability to assemble and develop a network of 
Sustainability Champions whereby staff become engaged and empowered to develop an actions 
list to reduce waste and improve energy and water efficiency - with this we predict up to a 5% 
reduction in CO2 emissions and financial savings from utility costs.

 To liaise with NHSPS with regards to the opportunity for procurement of ‘Green Electricity’ i.e. 
renewable wind turbine, solar PV and hydroelectricity from their preferred energy supplier. This 
will have a positive influence in energy reduction and CCG will see few carbon emissions due to 
an overall decarbonisation of the grid. 

 To introduce a discounted travel option with First Bus for NHS staff, this is with the aim to 
encourage members of staff that live locally to take public transport and limit the number of cars 
on the road which will ease congestion and carbon emission in and around Gloucester City

Page 19



 Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust
 Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust; currently in the process of collating 

data for the 2019/20 carbon report and updating the Trusts Sustainable Development 
Management Plan, this will set out the Trusts plans for reducing CO2 emissions for 2020 – 
2025 in line with NHS carbon reduction targets of 34% by 2020 and 50% by 2025. 

  Plans for reducing carbon emissions from the built environment in 2020 include; LED 
lighting schemes for Weavers Croft in Stroud, this will reduce CO2 by 10.8 tonnes per 
annum. Upgrading to LED lighting as a result of refurbishments and fit-out projects at 
Rikenel and Montpellier in Gloucester. Upgrading the external car park lighting to LED at 
North Cotswold Hospital. 

 Plans for improving air quality in Gloucestershire and reducing carbon emissions from Trust 
travel include; introducing electric vehicle charging points. For 2020 this includes; North 
Cotswolds Hospital, Edward Jenner Court, Cirencester Hospital, Charlton Lane and Pullman 
Place. This will provide a total of eighteen sockets for staff and visitor use and in the long 
term provide the opportunity for both electric and hybrid plug-in vehicles to be introduced 
to the Trusts fleet. 

 To continue to work alongside Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group with the aim to 
forge links with Gloucestershire Hospitals Foundation Trust and improve sustainability as 
part of the narrative which outlines Gloucestershire’s direction in light of the NHS Long Term 
Plan. 

 Meet with Abigail Hopewell “Head of Leadership and OD” for GHFT to network and share 
ideas associated with declaring a ‘Climate Emergency’ and strategies associated with 
Sustainable Leadership. 

Our 2018/19 Carbon Report

Carbon Emissions from Building Utilities (CO2e tonnes) 
 Electric = 777 tonnes 
 Gas = 805 tonnes 
 Heating oil = 189 tonnes 
 Heating Water = 120 tonnes 
 Water = 33 tonnes 
 Total = 1924 CO2e tonnes/41.8% reduction in accordance to 2020 target of 34% reduction. 

Page 20



Carbon Emissions from Travel (CO2e tonnes) 
 Staff Claimed Car = 419 tonnes 

 Pool Car Unleaded = 72 tonnes 

 Pool Car Diesel = 30 tonnes 

 Rail, Bus and Tram = 8 tonnes 

 Total = 531 CO2e tonnes 

Carbon Emissions from Waste (CO2e tonnes) 
 Gloucestershire Waste = 4.6 tonnes 
 Herefordshire Waste = 1.3 tonnes 

Page 21



 Total = 5.9 CO2e tonnes 

Total Carbon Footprint for 2018/19 
 2672 CO2e tonnes (Including well-to-tank and transmission & distribution Losses). 

 25.5% reduction in accordance to 2020 target of 34% reduction in Total Carbon emissions. 

 It should be noted that emissions will increase following the merger with Gloucestershire 
Care Services on 1st October 2019. It is not possible at this stage to assess the overall 
increase in emissions the merger will cause in the 2019/20 report. 

Aspirational plans for the Trusts Sustainability include: 
 Where practical convert Trust fleet to ultra-low emission vehicles, we predict that this has 

the potential to reduce CO2 emissions by up to 530 tonnes or by 28% 
 Introduce a programme for Organisational Sustainability for e.g. an integrated scheme such 

as ‘Green Impact’ to develop an network of Sustainability Champions whereby staff become 
engaged and empowered to develop an actions list to reduce waste and improve energy 
efficiency , with this we predict up to a 5% reduction in CO2 emissions and financial savings. 

 Where practical to install renewable energy sources i.e. Solar PV across all community 
hospitals and mental health settings, this enable the Trusts built environment to become 
energy generating sites. 

 To procure ‘Green Electricity’ from the 1st April 2021 i.e. wind turbine, solar PV and 
hydroelectricity from our energy suppliers. 

Page 22



Gloucestershire Constabulary and the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner
The OPCC’s office have created a priority to support a “Green and Pleasant County”.  The key 
requirements are:

 To ensure the OPCC and the Constabulary seek new opportunities to reduce waste and 
pollution, while maintaining their ISO 14001 certification

 To ensure the environment, sustainability, human and animal welfare issues – including the 
use of plastic - are considered at every opportunity. From new initiatives, food choices, 
travel options and construction

This priority is about working hard to be responsible organisations- both the OPCC and the 
Constabulary- operating in as a responsible and sustainable way as possible.”

Gloucestershire Constabulary are the only police force in the UK to hold ISO 14001 Environmental 
Standard 2015 certification as a result of the  environmental management work.  

The commitments include:

•developing a plan to use less paper in the Constabulary and OPCC

•working towards electrification of our vehicle fleet, where it is operationally viable

•ensuring recycling of all recyclable waste becomes the norm, with opportunities to 
contribute provided in all police buildings and locations.

Full details can be found using the link below.  

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/priorities/a-green_and-pleasant-county/

Air Quality and Health Focussed Activity

Action - Identify specific actions to support improvements in air quality and reducing its impact on 
their staff and members of the public

Fleet
 Electrification of the Fleet – plans to electrify 20% of the fleet are well advanced – approx. 

80 vehicles.
 Telematics – installation of telematics will provide us with data and enable us to make best 

use of the fleet and reduce mileage.
 New vehicles have reduced emissions.
 Our fleet is serviced very regularly so runs at maximum efficiency 

Travel Plan

Page 23

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/priorities/a-green_and-pleasant-county/


 We have a travel plan for our HQ and travel surveys are carried out.  We operate a car share 
scheme and encourage our personnel to use alternative transport to single occupancy of a 
car.

 We are members of the Cycle to Work scheme, a salary sacrifice scheme for staff to 
purchase bicycles.

 We have been in contact with EnRoute Parking
EnrRoute Parking seeks out car parks of businesses such as pubs, hotels, restaurants and 
tourists attractions located on popular commuter roads, businesses that have surplus 
parking spaces during working hours.  They promote those spaces through the En Route 
Parking website where staff can book ar space easily online.  

 We have been in contact with Think Travel for more information on sustainable travel 
options.
We will be inviting these organisations to attend an environmental event at Police HQ in the 
Spring.

Other Initiatives 
 We have introduced Skype 
 We encourage telephone conferencing rather than travel to meetings
 We support working from home which reduces trips to the office 
 We have 777 colleagues participating in the Global Challenge, which will lead to more of our 

personnel walking to work rather than using their cars.
 We are introducing planting schemes to improve our sites – helps with air quality.
 We have a Carbon Management Plan including actions to reduce our carbon footprint

Page 24



Gloucester City Council

Air Quality and Health Focussed Activity

We are currently arranging a stakeholder meeting to initiate an update to Gloucester’s Air Quality 
Action Plan with colleagues from Climate Change (Meyrick), Public Health & Highways and 
Neighbouring Authorities in partnership with our consultants Bureau Veritas.

It would be looking to review the three AQMA’s within the city, the possibility of revoking one of 
them, the measured levels of NOx has reduced over the past 5yrs with no exceedances, and consider 
options available to improve the levels at the ones where exceedances are still measured.

Climate Change Focussed Activity

Gloucester City council has adopted a climate emergency resolution. It requires the City Council to 
be net carbon neutral by 2030, the City as a whole by 2050. These are very challenging targets, and 
to move towards delivering them the City is taking a ‘Climate Change Road Map’ to Cabinet in a 
March.   .

The Road Mat outlines the sum of the work done to date,  has some “quick wins” the council can do 
over the coming months and has a list of longer term potential projects. 

Identified “quick wins” include

• Food Waste (increase the commercial food waste take up)          
• PV on Council Buildings           
• Electric Cars/Bikes          
• EV charging points          
• Tree Planting Projects          
• Natural Flood Management Projects/Rain Gardens           
• Insects in the City (this is a background biodiversity project in partnership with GWT)          
• Staff/Member Training/Contact Groups 
• Environment and Ecology Forum (re-focussing the existing forum to become more about 
climate)
• Update Green Travel Plan 
• Planning Policy          
• Adopt a ten year payback  guide for Council low carbon schemes are funded
• 100% renewable electricity for the City Council estate
• Carbon Friendly Procurement:
• More Sustainable Festivals and Events

Importantly it identified a budget of £100.000 to be spent on climate change projects/proposals and 
commits the council (other things considered) to funding climate friendly projects if they can prove a 
simple 10 year pay back. It recognises that we can not do this alone and that it requires stakeholders 
and wider society to help deliver and also makes clear the co-benefits to health and well being of 
climate friendly mitigation and adaptation interventions.

A full strategy will be taken to Members in Autumn of 2020 that will include a detailed list of projects 
and proposals to deliver the required outcomes.

Page 25



GFirst LEP

There are two main areas of coordinated activity. 

Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy

This is project managed by GFirst LEP and partnered with Gloucestershire County Council, and the 
Centre for Sustainable Energy as well as the Businesses that sit on the LEP’s Energy Business group.  
It identifies the ambition for the county to become net carbon zero by 2050 and the commitments 
required to achieve this.  There is a road map at the back of the document, which identifies how we 
are going to achieve these ambitions, by when, and who will take the lead on achieving these.  The 
GFirst LEP Energy Business group take the lead on identifying how to put into action the strategic 
energy ambitions for the county, as outlined in pages 10 & 11.

Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy: https://www.gfirstlep.com/content/?contentID=926

“Green” chapter in the Local Industrial Strategy

This identifies the opportunities for Gloucestershire to be the greenest place to live and work in 
England and a ‘magnet county’ championing natural capital-based growth, creative green business 
development opportunities, and reducing its carbon emissions to net zero by 2050 or sooner.  

This is available here pp 31 - 38

Page 26

https://www.gfirstlep.com/content/?contentID=926
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019-updated.pdf


Gloucestershire Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Gloucestershire Hospitals have been active in the sustainability space for a number of years.  
Thinking has been accelerated in recent months and they were the 5th NHS organisation in the UK to 
declare a climate emergency in December 2019.  

1. Initiatives to reduce our carbon footprint

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has already taken actions that reduce the impact of 
healthcare delivery on the environment. These actions include:

● An award winning initiative to reduce the use of the anaesthetic gas Desflurane. Resulting in 
reduction of levels by 95% less than at the same point last year, saving in excess of 800 tonnes of 
CO2  and over £60,000

● Phased introduction of an electronic patient record (ePR) which aims to save 1,021,850 pieces of 
A4 paper used for nursing documentation

● Offering discounts for use of reusable cups in onsite catering facilities
● Holding  #BigGreenConversation, a sustainability engagement event aimed at  embedding 

sustainability into our healthcare services
● Composting facilities onsite for use in our green spaces
● Recycling of inhalers using the national inhaler recycling scheme by Glaxo-Smith-Klein
● Reducing waste volume by sending out of date clinical consumables to wildlife and animal 

charities for reuse - for example feeding tubes and dressing packs
● Used catering oil recovered for biofuel 
● As well as dry mixed recycling there are twelve other waste streams that are recycled which 

include wood, metal, polystyrene, waste electronic and electrical equipment (WEEE) and 
batteries

● Black bag waste disposed of at Energy from Waste (EfW) plant. The energy generated from each 
tonne of waste is between 500 – 600 kWh. Using average monthly tonnage figures GHT’s black 
bag waste generates between 34,250 and 41,100 kWh of electricity.

● Combined Heat and Power plant at CGH since 2014 and at GRH since 2018 reducing reliance on 
fossil fuels

● Shuttle bus service from Gloucester city centre to Cheltenham town centre, via Arle Court Park 
and Ride and both hospitals, with over 17,200 journeys made each month

● Reduced fares available to staff with two local bus companies, salary sacrifice scheme available 
for cycle purchase and Staff Health and Wellbeing hub all encouraging sustainable travel

● Joint working with the Gloucestershire County Council transport team and other public and 
private organisations on transport and air quality related projects aiming to reduce number of 
car journeys and promote green travel

● Gloucestershire Managed Services retail units have removed plastic cups and only have glasses 
for water

● Local supplier initiatives e.g. for dairy and bakery goods, which reduce food miles and allow 
menus change to take advantage of seasonality

2. Next steps 

Page 27



 Sustainable Development Management Plan to be updated late spring 2020
 Sustainable Development Assessment Tool (SDAT) assessment to be completed to coincide with 

the revised SDMP
 Align a sustainability strategic objective alongside the current estates and facilities strategic 

objective
 Sign up to the NHS Single-Use Plastics Reduction Campaign Pledge
 Participate in NHS Sustainability Day on the 19th March 2020 
 Install LED lighting – this is a £600,000 grant from NHS Improvement 
● Work with Vital Energi (energy performance contractor) to:

- Validate new technologies at Cheltenham General Hospitals and Gloucestershire Royal 
Hospital and develop further projects

● Explore options for electric vehicles chargers on site and the provision of electric fleet
● Strategic Site Development scheme will be BREEAM Excellent for new build and BREEAM Very 

Good for refurbishment areas. These standards will ensure buildings will be energy and water 
efficient, maximise opportunities for natural light and ventilation

● New Travel Plan to be written in 2020 as part of a new transport strategy aiming to help staff be 
more sustainable in their journeys to work and address on-site car parking issues

● Reusable sharps bins to be introduced. This will achieve anticipated carbon savings of 307tonnes 
and cost savings of £30,000 annually

● Single use metal instrument recycling so that instruments can be sterilised and recycled rather 
than incinerated thereby reducing carbon emissions

● A Sterimelt machine, which has been purchased, will provide a sustainable solution for the 
disposal of polypropylene tray wraps and non-soiled patient slide sheets. The wraps and sheets 
are recycled into blocks for which the Trust will receive revenue. It is estimated that this will 
remove eleven tonnes of GHT waste from the orange bag waste stream per month – resulting in 
both financial and carbon savings. Six times more carbon is produced in the disposal process for 
orange bags than recycling the orange bags in the Sterimelt machine

● Sign up to Warp-It which is a platform to  trade surplus assets to reduce procurement demand 
and costs resulting in a reduction in waste and carbon emissions

The full board paper (December 2019) presented to support declaring a climate change emergency  
can be accessed here pp 329 – 343.

Page 28

https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/sdat/about.aspx
https://www.gloshospitals.nhs.uk/about-us/our-board/board-papers/december-2019/


Gloucestershire County Council
Background
1. Cabinet in December resolved to:

1. Approve the Immediate Action Plan and endorse the Climate Change Strategy;
2. Adopt the Gloucestershire Climate Change manifesto (Figure 1) and seek the support of the 
council’s partners at Leadership Gloucestershire to join the county council’s commitment;
3. Approve up to £90,000 in-year investment to cover the costs of developing and 
implementing the strategy and for the staffing and green electricity proposals, from the 
2019/20 existing corporate budget;
4. Subject to the Council approving the £1million Climate Change and Air Quality ‘Action Fund’, 
to delegate authority to the Director for Economy, Environment & Infrastructure to determine 
how the Fund will be used to support delivery of the Climate Change Strategy, in consultation 
with the:
a) Cabinet Members for Environment & Planning; Finance & Change; Public Health & 
Communities; and the b) Directors of Finance; Public Health
5. Note the findings from the public consultation and the feedback from the Gloucestershire 
Youth Climate Panel

2. In December 2018, Cabinet signed the council up to BEIS’ Emissions Reduction Pledge 2020, 
committing to annual reporting of GCC’s emissions performance to Environment Scrutiny, 
Government and online.  It was also agree to report emissions for council-maintained schools.
‘Actions by April’ Immediate Action Plan

3. The strategy includes an ‘Actions by April’ immediate action plan that, by March 2020, will be 
developed into a more detailed live 5-year rolling action plan

4. Good progress is being made in taking these actions forward.  .
Working with Leadership Gloucestershire

5. There is a need to secure agreement with Leadership Gloucestershire and other partners on 
how we will work together to bring about a co-ordinated approach and action plan in 
response to the climate emergency.  This is key to delivering the Climate Change Strategy.

6. Agreement has been reached to fund a Strategic Co-ordinator to drive the approach across 
Leadership Gloucestershire Partners.  This will be a full time 2-year fixed term appointment, 
hosted by Gloucester City, reporting to Jon McGinty.  Agreement was not reached to make the 
GCC-funded 0.5 FTE Strategic Communications role full time to work across the partnership, 
and so this part-time role will be GCC-focused.

Page 29



7. A report is being developed to go to the Leadership Gloucestershire meeting on 5th March 
2020 (deadline 27th February).  This will include governance proposals and the members will 
be invited to sign up to GCC’s manifesto commitment, shown in Figure 1.

Climate Change & Air Quality Action Fund
8. Proposed guiding principles for the Action Fund have been drafted and are being agreed. 
European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) Bid
9. An ERDF (European Regional Development Fund) Initial application for £2.1m match 

funding to reduce the carbon impact of educational establishments has been approved to 
go on to Full Application (deadline 17th March).  It is proposed that the schools capital 
maintenance programme, GCC Salix Fund, the Climate Change & Air Quality Action Fund, 
officer staff time and contributions from schools be used to as capital and revenue match 
funding.  Stroud DC are writing the bid with GCC as lead partner – in summary:

With a clear focus on economic strategies for Gloucestershire that seek to build resilient, healthy 
communities, attractive for young people who are developing skills for the future, this project seeks 
to improve school facilities, demonstrate the benefits of Low Carbon technologies and encourage 
schools to help their students make a direct link to the low carbon economy through skills 
development activities.  The funds will establish grant pots for LA schools so that maintenance 

Figure 1: Gloucestershire Climate Change manifesto

We have to change and fast – our ambitions…

In response to the climate change emergency we pledge to collectively reduce Gloucestershire’s carbon 
emissions by 80% by 2030 when compared to 2005, and secure a carbon neutral county by 2050.  

We will do this by implementing the Gloucestershire Climate Change strategy, working with our 
partners to:

 Reduce Leadership Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions by 80% by 2030, aiming for 100% (‘Net 
Zero’) by 2030 through carbon offsetting.

 Show leadership, make our policies and budgets deliver our climate ambitions and strengthen the 
Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy.

 Grow our low carbon economy.

 Help all our residents, businesses and partners to radically reduce carbon. 

 Take care of our communities to limit the impact of climate change on them. 

 Maintain and enhance the quality of our natural environment, protecting and enhancing the 
biodiversity of the county.

 Lead an innovative new project to plant a million trees by 2030. 

 Work towards all new buildings being zero carbon.

 Help residents to reduce household carbon and save money. 

 Invest in and encourage renewable energy. 

 Reduce vehicle emissions from transport to support quality of life, health and carbon reduction. 

 Launch ‘Green Gloucestershire’ awards that recognise excellence in tackling climate change. 

Page 30



programmes can be enhanced with low carbon assets. Schools in receipt of funds need to take part in 
actions that spread the benefits of low carbon living and learning wider in the communities by 
making commitments that provide students with experiences and learning in the low carbon 
economy or increase local residents access to advice and support for their own homes

 We are working to finalise this bid in close partnership with our significant challenges 
being the revenue match funding, however…

 That is part of the reason for the project as it seeks to identify and demonstrate how 
local authorities can orienteer their school capital funds in support of CN ambitions.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report 2018/19
10. Highlights include:

 Corporate emissions fell by 32% against 2017/18 and by 70% against the 2006/07 baseline.
 Schools (non-Academy & non-Free schools) emissions started to be reported in 2017/18.  

Emissions fell by 16% against 2017/18.

Page 31



Tewksbury District Council

By way of an update, I can advise that following an agreed Climate Change Emergency motion to 
Council, Tewkesbury has broadened the remit of its Flood Risk Management Group  to include the 
remit of climate change and carbon reduction. As the first part of assessing what we will be required 
to do to make our building carbon neutral by 2030, through the working group  an external  climate 
change and carbon reduction audit was commissioned at the beginning of February, and is 
underway by 2 individuals both well placed to understand the issues and challenges facing local 
authorities and in supporting them on their carbon reduction journey and passionate about helping 
local authorities reduce their carbon emissions and become more sustainable. The audit will 
essentially look at ‘where we are now’ and where we will need to get to, in relation to meeting the 
agreed Climate Emergency motion agreed at full Council, in particular about making our building 
carbon neutral by 2030. It will also help shape the objectives and tasks of the working group moving 
forwards.

 So the work being undertaken at the moment isn’t particularly glamorous, and essentially involves 
our Asset Management team providing lots of background information in relation to things such as 
our current and predicted energy use and spend, our current use of water, details around our 
mileage etc.  and other similar details that collectively illustrate our current carbon usage and hence 
areas where we could make reductions. This data will be analysed and provide examples and 
suggestions in relation to what measures we will need to put in place to meet our objectives.

 The outcomes will be presented to the working group and then via a report to full Council on 21st 
April. 

In terms of air quality, we continue to monitor and report on air quality across the borough as part 
of our statutory responsibilities under The 2008 ambient air quality directive (2008/50/EC) via 
diffusion tube monitoring and analysis, and report to DEFRA again as we are required to do 
statutorily. We have a long standing Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) plan in Tewkesbury town 
centre, and will be looking to undertake some continuous monitoring over the next 6 months to 
determine if the air quality has improved to the extent the AQMA is no longer required.

Page 32

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:152:0001:0044:EN:PDF


Forest of Dean District Council

Climate Change
 Council has developed a Climate Emergency Rapid Action Plan (available here) seeking to drive 

down its own emissions and support reductions across the district
 Planning policy -Development of new plan 2041 will have a strong focus on the location of 

development and low carbon/active travel integration. Also policies in relation to green 
infrastructure, renewable energy development and low carbon construction

 Planning policy is engaged with the Local Transport Plan consultation (GCC) 
 FoDDC involved with major transport study in relation to Chepstow and impacts congestion. Key 

outputs expected summer /autumn

Air Quality

Local Air Quality Management.
Local Air Quality Management is a statutory obligation placed on local authorities by the 
Environment Act 1995.  This legislation places the following duties on authorities:

• To review and predict future air quality with the district from time to time.

• Identify whether Air Quality Standards and Objectives are being achieved or likely to be 
achieved.

• Designate Air Quality Management Areas

• Assess air quality in designated areas within 12 months

• Prepare Air Quality Action Plans

Air Quality is also a material planning consideration for both local plans and individual applications, 
in accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and National Planning Policy 
Framework.  In this context, the role entails:

• Contributing to local plans

• Responding to consultations and scrutinising individual applications

• Recommending conditions and obligations where appropriate.

• Reviewing submissions to meet conditions and obligations.

The role also involves processing other miscellaneous activities, including:

• Collating information for EIR and FOI requests.

• Producing and collating data for environmental searches.

What tasks are undertaken?
• Review of planning applications 
• Submission of annual statutory return(s) 
• Designation of Air Quality Management Areas as required.

Page 33

http://meetings.fdean.gov.uk/documents/s24423/E.130%20Annex%20A%20-%20CE%20RAP%20-%20Vr%202.3%20February%20Cabinet.pdf


• Production of Air Quality Management Plans as required.
• Distribution, collection and analysis of passive monitoring equipment
• Maintenance of and data collection from active monitoring equipment
• Contract management of active and passive monitoring equipment.
• Responding to detailed enquiries, which can’t be resolved by sign-posting.
• Collation of data for FOI/EIR/Searches.

Table 1 Air Quality Management Area
AQMA Current Status Air Quality Monitoring Across District

Lydney declared 
in 2010.

Since introduction of a 20mph speed 
limit at the junction the nitrogen 
dioxide levels have fallen below the 
national air quality objective level. As 
levels remain within 10% of the limit 
the Council has not revoked the 
AQMA.

31 diffusion tubes monitoring 
Nitrogen Dioxide in various locations 
close to roadsides and residences.

Permitting of Industrial Processes.
Under the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010, local authorities must 
regulate certain types of factory and other activities such as dry cleaners. This is to reduce any 
pollution they may cause and, in particular, to help improve air quality. Businesses which operate 
these premises must have a permit.

These premises are known as “installations”. Some are called ‘Part B’, and local authorities can only 
deal with air pollution from them. Many different sorts of pollution are controlled at ‘Part A2′ 
installations. The Part B regime is known as Local Air Pollution Prevention and Control (LAPPC), and 
the A2 regime as Local Authority Industrial Pollution Prevention and Control (LA-IPPC). District or 
borough councils are normally the regulator. In areas with only one council (a Unitary Council), it is 
the regulator. 

Local authorities deal with many different types of installation. Glassworks and foundries, rendering 
plant and maggot breeders, petrol stations and concrete crushers, sawmills and paint 
manufacturers, are among the sorts regulated.

What tasks are undertaken?
Officers undertake a number of tasks including the issuing of permits via the application process, 
inspection of processes and relevant risk assessment, transfer, surrender, revocation and 
enforcement. Tasks are guided by the Defra Guidance manual, Process and Sector Guidance notes. 
In addition there are two annual returns to complete, the Defra annual data return and the 
European Pollutant Release and Transfer Register return (Part A2 only). 

Inspection frequency is based upon a risk assessment process and can vary from twice a year for 
high risk installations to once every three years for low risk.

Forest of Dean DC has 35 Part B Premises to inspect and 1 A2 premises.

Page 34



Table 2 Permitted Premises.

Company Name/Address Description Permit 
Status

Date of Issue

Coleford Brick & Tile, Royal 
Forest of Dean Brickworks, 
Cinderford

Manufacture of Heavy Clay 
Goods (Bricks) – A2

Active 2019

JD Norman Lydney Ltd, Tutnalls, 
Lydney

Ferrous Metal Foundry – A2 Active 2013

Severn Valley Woodworks Ltd, 
Northwood Green, Westbury

Timber and Wood Based 
Products A2

Active 2015

Tarmac Services Limited, 
Stowfield Quarry, Scowles Pitch, 
Coleford

Quarry Processes/Roadstone 
Coating

Active 2017

Breedon Southern Ltd, Clearwell 
Quarry, Stowe Green, St. Briavels  

Quarry Processes Active 2017

Bituchem Asphalt Ltd., 
Birchwood Close, Forest Vale 
Industrial Estate, Cinderford 

Roadstone Coating & 
Bitumen/Tar Processes

Active 2013

Berwin Industrial Polymers, 
Church Road, Lydney

Rubber Processes Active 2013

Severn Valley Woodworks, Unit 
1-3, Station Road Lydney

Timber and Wood Based 
Products

Active 2014

Rothdean Haulage, Station 
Street, Cinderford

Coating of Metal and Plastic MOTHBALL
ED

2006

Newspace Containers Ltd, Unit 
30, Lydney Industrial Estate, 
Lydney

Coating of Metal and Plastic Active 2013

Forterra Building Products Ltd., 
Tufthorn Avenue, Coleford

Bulk use of Cement Active 2015

Hanson Aggregates, Drybrook 
Quarry, Drybrook

Quarry Processes MOTHBALL
ED

1995

Bituchem Ltd., Birchwood Close, 
Forest Vale I.E. Cinderford

Roadstone Coating & 
Bitumen/Tar Processes

Active 2014

Crematoria Management Ltd., 
Yew Tree Brake, Cinderford

Cremation of human remains Active 2013

Rackham Housefloors Ltd., Forest 
Vale I.E. Cinderford

Bulk Use of Cement Active 2013

Breedon Aggregates (England) 
ltd, Clearwell Quarries Ltd., 
Stowe, St. Briavels, Lydney

Bulk Use of Cement Active 2017

FP McCann (Nilbury Precast), 
Lydney I.E. Harbour Road, Lydney

Bulk Use of Cement Active 2014

Cavendish Dry Cleaners, Lydney Dry Cleaners Active 2012
Tarmac Trading Ltd, Stowfield 
Quarry, Scowles Pitch, Coleford

Bulk Use of Cement Active 2017

Dowty Propellers, Mitcheldean Coating process Active 2016

Page 35



Company Name/Address Description Permit 
Status

Date of Issue

Lower Lane Superstop, Berry Hill, 
Coleford

PVR Active 2019

Alvington Service Station, 
Gloucester Road, Alvington

PVR Active 2014

Brierley Service Station, Brierley, 
Drybrook, Glos.

PVR Active 2012

Meridien Service Station, 
Gloucester Road, Newent

PVR Active 2019

Cross Hands Garage, Corse, 
Hartpury.

PVR Active 2013

Abbotswood Garage, Lower High 
Street, Cinderford

PVR Active 2014

Elton Service Station, Elton 
Corner, Westbury-on-Severn

PVR Active 2014

General Garage, Ross Road, 
Huntley

PVR Active 2013

Highleadon Filling Station, 
Newent

PVR Active 2012

Motorhouse Service Station, Old 
Station Way, Coleford

PVR Active 2012

Steam Mills Garage, Steam Mills, 
Cinderford

PVR Active 2016

Tesco Stores Ltd., Hill Street, 
Lydney.

PVR Stage 2 Active 2009

Mitcheldean Garage, New Road, 
Mitcheldean.

PVR Active 2012

Chaxhill Service Station, Chaxhill, 
Westbury-on-Severn

PVR Active 2012

Cinderford MOT Centre, 
Cinderford

PVR Active 2016

Churcham Service Station , A40, 
Churcham

PVR Active 2019

Page 36



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Finalisation of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health
Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  
 
The new Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy has previously been 
presented in draft form. This has now been amended to include options for 
incorporating climate change into the strategy. The optional wording is highlighted in 
yellow. 

This presents the option of a future commitment of the Board developing a position 
statement on climate change. The second option is to include the wording for an 8th 
priority on air quality as the aspect of climate change where the Board could add the 
most value. 
Recommendations to Board: 

 To review the revised Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
with particular attention to the wording highlighted in yellow.

 To decide if either of the highlighted yellow sections should be included in the 
final strategy. 

 Agree the final wording for the new Gloucestershire Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy

Financial/Resource Implications: 
None identified

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy – 
proposed final wording March 2020.

Optional changes for air quality paragraphs highlighted 

The Gloucestershire Way
We know that connected and empowered communities are healthy communities. The assets 
within communities, such as the skills and knowledge, social networks and community 
organisations, are building blocks for good health.

As part of our commitment to improving health and wellbeing, we seek to develop our 
relationships and connections with communities and recognise local strengths. Often 
referred to as a ‘strengths-based’ or ‘asset-based’ approach, this requires a different way of 
thinking and different conversations. We have some excellent examples of where this 
already happens but we want to build on this.

The Gloucestershire Way will be to build a shared understanding and commitment to 
working in a strengths-based approach. This will be underpinned with a clear set of guiding 
values.

Through this shift in ways of working, we will build community strength and resilience with 
associated improvements in health and wellbeing.

Foreword
Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, Health and Wellbeing Boards have a statutory 
duty to develop a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. It requires the Local Authority and 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to work together to understand the health and 
wellbeing needs of their local community, and agree joint priorities for addressing these 
needs to improve health and wellbeing outcomes and reduce inequalities.

Gloucestershire is generally a healthy county, but that does not mean we should be 
complacent and there is a great deal of variation across the county. We know that not 
everyone experiences good health and wellbeing, and this is influenced by a wide range of 
factors. Evidence suggest that as little as 10% of someone’s health and wellbeing is linked to 
health care – it’s our environment, jobs, food, transport, houses, education, and our friends, 
families and local communities that affect our health and wellbeing most.

This Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy provides an excellent opportunity to focus on those 
areas where a collective, system wide approach can help to improve the health and 
wellbeing of the population of Gloucestershire.

We recognise the significant work that is going on across our districts and networks, and 
across the range of organisations that operate within them, to maintain and improve the  
health and wellbeing of our populations. We also acknowledge the considerable work that is 

Page 38



being carried out in partnership across the county of Gloucestershire, with many strategies 
and programmes driving this work forward. We look to build on that work through the 
systems leadership of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

The strategy is not about taking action on everything at once, but about setting priorities for 
joint action and making a real impact on people’s lives. It provides a focus and vision from 
which to plan ahead for the next ten years.

Chair of Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Introduction
Our population in Gloucestershire was estimated to be around 633,558 in 2018, representing 
a rise of approximately 5,419 people since 2017.

The health of people in the county is generally better than the England average. 
Gloucestershire is one of the 20% least deprived local authorities areas in England. However 
there are notable variations across the county, from rural communities to urban towns. . Life 
expectancy for both men and women is higher than the England average.

Notably, good health and wellbeing is not evenly distributed across the county and pockets 
of deprivation do exist particularly in the main urban areas and in some of the market towns.

Life expectancy is 8.4 years lower for men and 5.4 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Gloucestershire than in the least deprived areas.

There was considerable variation in age structure at district level. The proportion of 0-19 
year olds is highest in Gloucester and exceeds the national figure for this age group. The 
proportion of 20-64 year olds is highest in Cheltenham and Gloucester. The Cotswolds, 
Forest of Dean, Stroud and Tewkesbury all have a higher proportion of people aged 65 and 
over when compared with the national figure.

Children from poorer backgrounds are more at risk of poorer health outcomes. The level of 
child poverty is better than the England average with 14.4% of children aged under 16 years 
living in poverty.

With a large rural geography, transport is a vital factor in accessing services. 40,000 
households in Gloucestershire do not own a car or van, making public transport essential to 
accessing public services. Gloucestershire’s Accessibility Matrix shows that in 24 Lower 
Super Output Areas* it is at least a 45 minute walk or public transport journey to a GP.

Housing is unaffordable for those on low incomes in the county with the ratio of house prices 
to wages being higher in each of the districts compared with the national average, except for 
Gloucester. Gloucestershire’s first Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Fit for the Future, 
was published in 2013. It focused on five objectives with a plan for each in the form of action 
cards. 

Page 39



The Health and Wellbeing Board has evolved considerably since then. It has undertaken a 
series of development sessions and formed new ways of working. This has been tested 
through two key areas; our work on self harm and on Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs). 

The Local Government Association Prevention System Peer Challenge in February 2018 
made nine key recommendations. Alongside the need to refresh the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy with greater community input, the recommendations also included the 
need to set out a fuller vision for health and wellbeing, define ‘prevention’ clearly, include the 
wider determinants of health, and make greater use of the voluntary and community sector 
to provide community insight. This strategy articulates the Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
response to the Prevention System Peer Challenge and sets out a clear vision and priorities.

This strategy has clear links with the approach of the Safer Gloucestershire strategy. Safer 
Gloucestershire aims to ensure a coherent, strategic approach to the delivery of community 
safety activity in Gloucestershire. Together with this Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy this 
provides a county wide framework for achieving the Vision 2050 ambition of a ‘happy, 
healthy and safe’ Gloucestershire.

Addressing health inequalities
It is important to form a shared understanding about health inequalities across our system. 
Health inequalities are unfair and avoidable differences in health across the population, and 
between different groups within society.  They do not occur randomly but are largely socially 
determined by factors beyond the individual’s control. These conditions influence our 
opportunities for good health. 

Action is needed to improve the lives of those with the worse health outcomes, the fastest. 
This means clearly identifying which groups have the worse outcomes, and then setting out 
system wide objectives and measures for improving the health of these groups and 
narrowing the health gap. 

We know that the social and economic environment in which we are born, grow up, live, 
work and age, as well as the decisions we make for ourselves and our families collectively 
have a bigger impact on our health than healthcare alone. However, these conditions are not 
fixed, but are amenable to change through interventions which address:

 risk and protective (lifestyle) factors such as smoking, diet and physical activity;
 addressing unwarranted variation in access, experience and outcomes from treatment 

and care in conditions such as cancer, mental health, cardio-vascular disease (CVD), 
respiratory disease and diabetes

 the wider determinants of health including through the NHS as an ‘anchor institution’ – 
as an employer and procurer of services;

 the gap in health access and outcomes experienced between the least and most 
deprived populations, and other population groups such as inclusion health and 
protected characteristic groups most likely to experience health inequalities

Page 40



2. Systems leadership approach
Health and wellbeing depend on a complex interplay of factors. There is no single 
intervention or single organisation that in isolation can guarantee good population health and 
wellbeing. Our systems to support health and wellbeing are complex, therefore we need an 
approach that recognises this complexity and seeks to influence across the whole system.

Crucially, it recognises the priorities and work of the other system ‘players’. Working together 
enables the systems to move forward together rather than separately and create more 
impactful change.

Vision 2050
The intention of Gloucestershire Vision 2050 is to set ideas that collectively can transform 
the county for tomorrow while embracing, retaining, and nurturing the values and assets that 
are the central strengths of Gloucestershire today. It sets out ambitions for achieving this. 
One of the ambitions is:

“A healthy, happy and safe county.”

This Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy provides a clear mechanism for being able to 
deliver the ‘healthy, happy’ element.

Integrated Care System and the NHS Long-Term Plan
In 2016, NHS organisations and local councils came together to form 44 Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnerships (STPs) covering the whole of England, and set out their 
proposals to improve health and care for patients. Gloucestershire has evolved to form an 
Integrated Care System (ICS), a new type of even closer collaboration. In an Integrated Care 
System, NHS organisations, in partnership with local councils and others, take collective 
responsibility for managing resources, delivering NHS standards, and improving the health 
of the population they serve.

The NHS Long-Term Plan sets out key ambitions for the NHS over the next 10 years. The 
plan signals a clear focus on prevention, recognising that the NHS can take important action 
to complement the role of local authorities and the contribution of government, communities, 
industry and individuals.

The plan includes the commitment to a renewed NHS prevention programme. The 
Integrated Care System will have a key role in helping to deliver this.

The Prevention and Inequalities Framework (which is in response to the Long-Term Plan) 
and this strategy are closely linked.

3. Developing the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
This strategy has been developed through the Health and Wellbeing Board engaging with 
wider stakeholders, including our communities.

Page 41



Engaging communities
Engaging with the public and listening to their views about health and wellbeing has been an 
essential part of developing the strategy. There have been four main stages to this.

Stage 1: Understanding the landscape
There has been a wealth of previous engagement and consultation about health and 
wellbeing with various populations within Gloucestershire. Findings from a wide range of 
these were assessed to help build an understanding about what people have already told 
us. Mental health, loneliness and social and community connections were key themes.

Stage 2: Informing the priority setting
Through workshops and structured interviews, we encouraged residents to consider their top 
three priorities in maintaining positive health and wellbeing. This helped to inform the priority 
setting process.

Stage 3: Developing a better understanding of the priorities
This was an opportunity to feed back to communities the priorities that had been chosen and 
start to understand some more detail about how they viewed these priorities. This gave us 
better insight into what people view are the strengths and opportunities around the priorities 
and some examples of positive practice.

Stage 4: Have we got it right?
This final stage involves more engagement to check that the strategy reflects what we have 
heard throughout the earlier stages.

Priority setting process
The community and wider stakeholder engagement helped to form a list of eleven potential 
themes for the Health and Wellbeing Board to then prioritise. In addition to these, ‘adverse 
childhood experiences (ACEs)’ and ‘early years’ were added to the list since ACEs is an 
area in which the Board have recently taken a leadership role in and early years was a cross 
cutting theme running through many of the community engagement workshops. The Health 
and Wellbeing Board went through a process of prioritisation taking into account need, 
impact, effectiveness, inequalities and acceptability. As part of the ‘acceptability’ criteria, the 
community and other stakeholder feedback was taken into account as well as a 
consideration of where the Health and Wellbeing Board could add value. These acceptability 
considerations carried a heavy weighting in the priority setting process.

4. Our vision 

‘Gloucestershire is a place where everyone can live well, 
be healthy and thrive’

Page 42



5. Our priorities
We have seven Health and Wellbeing Board priorities.

 Physical activity
 Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and resilience
 Mental wellbeing
 Social isolation and loneliness
 Healthy lifestyles
 Best start in life
 Housing

Tackling social isolation and loneliness is a shared priority between the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and Safer Gloucestershire. Each of the seven priorities is at a different 
stage of development. It is important that the emphasis is maintained on where the Health 
and Wellbeing Board can truly add value.

The focus needs to be on what it is we can only tackle in partnership. It is important to 
recognise the need for local areas to be able to adopt bespoke approaches to how they 
approach the seven priorities.

The Health and Wellbeing Board will maintain a watching brief over the wider health and 
wellbeing agenda. In addition, it will develop a position statement on economic development, 
climate change, green infrastructure and transport to recognise the importance of these to 
health and wellbeing.

Climate change
In May 2019, Parliament declared a climate emergency and government amended the 
Climate Change Act 2008 for the UK to be carbon neutral by 2050, with an interim target of a 
57% reduction in carbon emissions by 2030. All Gloucestershire councils have now declared 
a climate emergency.

We are now experiencing climate change at a rate that is completely unprecedented, and is 
likely to accelerate further. This is already impacting on human health, and will certainly have 
greater impact in the future through the following pathways:  

1. through the direct effects of weather, in particular extreme weather events; 
2. effects mediated by natural systems such as changing distribution of disease 
vectors; 
3. Effects mediated by social systems such as malnutrition, violence or mass refugee 
flows. 

Action on climate change is evident through local examples such as Carbon Neutral 2030, 
Gloucestershire County Council Climate Change Strategy, Gloucestershire Local Nature 
Partnership activity, Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy, Local Transport Plan and 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board will develop a position statement to recognise the links 
between climate change with health and wellbeing. 

Page 43



Transport
40,000 households in Gloucestershire do not own a car or van, making public transport 
essential to accessing public services. Rural communities often have limited access to public 
transport. 

The 2017 Community Survey linked transport and loneliness. Respondents who have a car 
as their main form of transport were the least likely key group to feel lonely. Consideration to 
this will be linked to the work on the social isolation and loneliness priority. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board will develop a position statement on transport and health identifying key 
systems levers.

Green infrastructure
Green infrastructure is intrinsically linked with the seven Health and Wellbeing Board 
priorities especially those such as housing or physical activity. The priorities are focused on 
where the Health and Wellbeing Board can add the greatest value, acknowledging the 
excellent work already in place and being led across the county on many of the other 
determinants of health. Health and Wellbeing Board will form a position statement around 
green infrastructure to highlight links with the priorities and the commitment to the 
Gloucestershire Green Infrastructure Pledge
 https://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/green-infrastructure-pledge 

Economic development
Economic prosperity (including educational attainment, employment and financial security) 
and its health benefits are well understood. Figures from the ONS covering July 2017 to 
June 2018 state that 8,700 people (2.6%) are unemployed in Gloucestershire. 62,000 
(16.4%) are economically inactive, including students, retired, those looking after a home, 
and the temporary and long-term sick. One in five of the economically inactive would like a 
job.

There is the opportunity for the Health and Wellbeing Board to link with the development of 
the Local Industrial Strategy to identify key objectives that overlap with economic 
development and health. Again, the Health and Wellbeing Board will develop a position 
statement for this area.

6. Understanding the priorities

Priority 1: Physical activity
Increasing physical activity has the potential to improve the physical and also mental health 
and wellbeing of individuals, families, communities and the county as a whole. Physical 
inactivity is the fourth leading risk factor for global mortality accounting for 6% of deaths 
globally. People who have a physically active lifestyle have a 20-35% lower risk of 
cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease and stroke compared to those who have a 
sedentary lifestyle. Regular physical activity is also associated with a reduced risk of 
diabetes, obesity, osteoporosis and colon/breast cancer, and with improved mental health.

Where are we now?

Page 44

https://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/green-infrastructure-pledge


• People in the UK are around 20% less active now than in the 1960s. If current trends 
continue, we will be 35% less active by 2030.
• Nearly one in five adults in Gloucestershire are inactive (less than 30 minutes of activity a 
week).

Where do we want to be?
• The national recommendation is for adults to aim to take part in at least 150 minutes of 
moderate intensity physical activity each week, in bouts of 10 minutes or more.
• Moderate intensity physical activities, such as brisk walking or cycling, cause adults to get 
warmer and breathe harder and their hearts to beat faster, but they can still carry on a 
conversation.
• We want to get 30,000 inactive people in Gloucestershire active and to make being 
physically active the social norm.

How will we get there?
• For every individual the specific opportunities and barriers to being more active will vary.
• A traditional delivery model with specific interventions to get people active is highly unlikely 
to have a lasting impact on behaviour on its own.
• Using a whole system, behaviour-change approach to get the least active people in the 
county moving.
• This will be delivered through We Can Move which is facilitated by Active Gloucestershire 
and has been developed through extensive research and consultation.
• A theory of change approach will be used.
• The approach recognises that many factors influence attitudes and behaviours. For 
example the personal (e.g. self-confidence, experience, the social norms within an 
individual’s family, friends and close community), infrastructure including the built and natural 
environment (e.g. existence and maintenance of cycle lanes, sports facilities, clubs) and 
education (e.g. understanding of what’s involved) - collectively a set of interlocking ‘systems’.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The We Can Move steering group provides the strategic direction, monitoring and evaluation 
for delivering this approach to improving physical activity and will report to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

Spotlight on: How the system works together at a local level to deliver change in level 
of physical activity
Under We Can Move, one of the campaigns is to prevent falls in older adults. The campaign 
focuses on behaviour intervention (strength and balance exercises). It first involved 
understanding the impact of current falls prevention interventions. Over 20 stakeholders and 
100 older adults in the county were contacted as part of the research. The findings 
highlighted the lack of awareness of risk factors, difficulties accessing interventions and a 
need for simplified health style messages that were relatable.

The findings also amplified the need for a social movement due to the importance of peer to 
peer influence - a network of people who will spread guidance and motivate people to either 
start strength and balance exercises at home or join a class. We Can Move has embarked 

Page 45



on a programme of recruiting this network through existing community groups, coffee 
mornings and lunch clubs, who will promote the exercises and distribute the material.

The marketing campaign was tested with a network of stakeholders including older adults in 
the community, professionals, as well as local governing bodies. The final version of the 
campaign will be promoted through We Can Move partnership with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), Gloucestershire County Council, and community networks. It 
is anticipated to reach 175 groups locally and 30,000 people over the age of 65. 

Priority 2: Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and resilience
What are ACEs?
ACEs are specified traumatic events occurring before the age of 18 years. High or frequent 
exposure to ACEs, without the support of a trusted adult can lead to toxic stress. There is a 
large body of evidence that shows the adversity we experience as children can affect us into 
adulthood.

Developing resilience through access to a trusted adult in childhood, supportive friends, 
positive attachments and being engaged in community activities has been shown to improve 
outcomes even in those who experience high levels of ACEs. This relies on active, thriving, 
and resilient communities.

Where are we now?
ACEs are prevalent across the population and recent studies have shown that nearly half of 
people in England experience at least one ACE, with around 9% experiencing four or more 
ACEs.

Where do we want to be?
Our vision is a resilient Gloucestershire where communities and organisations are acting on 
ACEs. We want to build communities and organisations that are aware of, able to talk about 
and take action on ACEs and resilience. We will build a social movement that recognises the 
potential lifelong impacts of adversity in childhood and takes action to stop childhood harm.

How will we get there?
We will deliver this through the Gloucestershire ACEs Strategy. The concept of ‘viral change’ 
has been used to establish a network of ACEs Ambassadors, effectively mobilising people 
across the county to implement the ACEs Strategy.

Our strategic objectives are to:
• Raise awareness and understanding of ACEs and resilience with communities and 
organisations through the delivery of a co-ordinated local campaign.
• Implement training to equip communities and organisations to respond appropriately to 
ACEs.
• Continue our partnership work with communities and organisations to build resilience 
through encouraging trusted relationships and developing core life skills.
• Develop relevant resources and information for people identified with ACEs who need 
signposting to further sources of support.

Page 46



• Increase our understanding of the distribution of ACEs across Gloucestershire.
• Incorporate ACEs informed approaches into relevant organisational policies, strategies and 
contracts.
• Evaluate interventions and share good practice and positive outcomes from ACEs work 
across Gloucestershire, the South West and beyond.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
Gloucestershire ACEs Panel leads on the ACEs Strategy and reports to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. Further information is available at www.actionaces.org

The ACEs Strategy explicitly acknowledges the vital role of communities in taking action on 
ACEs and building resilience; agencies cannot do this work alone. Two community pilots are 
being developed in Gloucester and Cheltenham. These pilots will provide valuable 
information through testing out different approaches to building resilient communities acting 
on ACEs. Early results are encouraging, with a high level engagement from extended 
families and increased trust and relationship building.

For example, one parent was having escalating problems with their personal situation and 
that of their children, as well as problems maintaining their property. Via personal support, 
trust has been established and the parent is now engaged in community activities. They 
have grown massively in confidence and self-esteem, regularly attend family support 
sessions and have started volunteering.

Priority 3: Mental wellbeing
Mental health and wellbeing are affected by individual factors, by population characteristics 
and by socio-economic circumstances. Most of these risk factors not only contribute to poor 
mental health but are also often the outcomes of poor mental health, i.e. social isolation can 
contribute to poor mental health but equally poor mental health can contribute to social 
isolation. A focus on mental wellbeing is a vital component of the work our whole system 
does to improve the health, wellbeing and quality of life of our population.

Where are we now?
• Anyone can be affected by poor mental health at any point in their lives.
• One in four adults experience at least one diagnosable mental health problem in any given 
year.
• The national mental wellbeing survey measures people’s outlook on life satisfaction, feeling 
worthwhile, happy and anxious. For Gloucestershire, approximately one in five people have 
high self-reported anxiety scores.
• There are already some good examples of practice in Gloucestershire such as the mental 
health trailblazer working to integrate mental health support teams into schools and offer 
earlier intervention for CYP when worries arise.

Where do we want to be?
The ambition is for every resident of Gloucestershire to enjoy the best possible mental health 
and wellbeing throughout the course of their life.

How will we get there?

Page 47

http://www.actionaces.org/


We will promote mental wellbeing and prevent mental illness across the lifetime through:
• Promoting good mental health and wellbeing from the earliest age.
• Gloucestershire Wellbeing (GloW) and the Gloucestershire commitment to promoting 
mental wellbeing through organisations and employers.
• Helping people build the Five Ways to Wellbeing into their everyday lives.
• Preventing suicide and self-harm.
• Creating and sustaining the conditions for good mental wellbeing.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The Gloucestershire Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership Board will continue to lead 
and co-ordinate the delivery of this priority.

Spotlight on: GloW and the Gloucestershire Commitment
Led by the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, GloW has been launched as a 
commitment to taking positive action to improve mental wellbeing for everyone in 
Gloucestershire. 

The aim of the campaign is to increase focus on the contributing factors to mental wellbeing 
and help organisations and communities recognise where they can make improvements that 
have a positive impact on our day-to-day wellbeing. By looking to make a difference to 
these, we are able to improve the mental wellbeing of Gloucestershire residents, and 
prevent mental illness in the future.

When we focus on the factors that affect our wellbeing day-to-day, we are in a better position 
to keep ourselves well and less likely to hit crisis point. At the heart of GloW is the 
Gloucestershire Commitment, signed by organisations in the public, private and voluntary 
sectors who want to pledge to be a part of the movement.

This is based on the national Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health, led by Public 
Health England – www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-
mentalhealth
.
The wide range of partners who have already signed the Gloucestershire Commitment can 
be seen at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow.

Priority 4: Social isolation and loneliness
Loneliness and isolation are not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an objective 
state determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts between individuals, 
across groups and communities’. Meanwhile loneliness is defined as ‘a subjective state 
based on a person’s emotional perception of the number and/or quality of social connections 
they need compared to what is currently being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an 
individual to be socially isolated without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being 
socially isolated.

Page 48

http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-mentalhealth
http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-mentalhealth
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow


There is a growing body of research that identifies and quantifies the impact of social 
isolation and loneliness on individuals and the wider economy. There is clear evidence that 
social isolation and loneliness are associated with negative health outcomes, which in turn 
places increased stress on local health and social care services.

Where are we now?
• One in two adult social care users in Gloucestershire have as much social contact as they 
would like.
• Only one in four (28.5%) of adult carers in Gloucestershire have as much social contact as
they would like.
• The Community Wellbeing Survey carried out in July 2017 reported ‘38% of all 
respondents feel lonely at times, and loneliness is highest in those with a mental health 
issue, a long term illness and/or a learning disability. Those with a car as their main form of 
transport considered themselves less lonely’. However, this was based on a small sample of 
606 respondents.
 The links to transport in our rural communities can be a contributing factor to social 

isolation.

Where do we want to be?
The ambition is to reduce social isolation and loneliness, and enable local people to take an 
active role in building and nurturing strong social networks and vibrant communities.

How will we get there?
This is a priority that requires a fuller understanding of where the focus is needed. The 
Health and Wellbeing Board requested a deep dive into this priority, which helped to identify 
actions.

The Enabling Active Communities Group undertook the deep dive with a number of 
structured interviews with a wide cross section of individuals, community groups, voluntary 
and statutory organisations across the county. Based on the feedback received to date, the 
approach to tackling social isolation and loneliness can be grouped into the following areas 
of focus:
• Create face-to-face opportunities for people to network, including intergenerational 
opportunities.
• Recognise and optimise the importance of friends, family and partners.
• Support/empower vulnerable people to join social groups, initially through one to one 
support.
• Encouraging people to make the time to get to know their neighbours through the creation 
of community events and welcome packs for new people moving into the area.
• Make more use of the resources around us, i.e. spaces and benches.
• Active design for new housing developments.
 Well designed places and high-quality green spaces where communities can gather can 

help tackle social isolation and draw people together.
• Creating the conditions for and supporting individuals and communities to solve problems 
and do more for themselves.
• Adopt an strengths based approach in all we do. How will this be delivered and monitored?

Page 49



This is a shared priority between the Health and Wellbeing Board, Safer Gloucestershire and 
Enabling Active Communities. This is a good example of where districts will work in different 
ways; but will be able to measure and feedback on activity, outputs and outcomes.

Spotlight on: Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
MindSCAPE Project
MindSCAPE was a Wye Valley AONB project, funded by the Big Lottery Fund and delivered 
by Artspace Cinderford in partnership with the Forest of Dean District Council and Forestry 
Commission. The project was aimed at improving the mental and physical health of people 
diagnosed with early onset dementia and their carers. It aimed to reduce social isolation and 
help them to reconnect with the natural environment.

Fortnightly sessions included activities to engage participants with the outdoors and the 
natural environment. Training for professionals and family carers was also delivered, 
enabling people to feel confident carrying out MindSCAPE type activities independently in 
their own setting. The project contributed towards the Forest of Dean becoming a ‘dementia 
friendly’ community and has, in partnership with the Forest of Dean District Council and the 
Gloucestershire County Council Dementia Education Team, trained a team of voluntary 
‘dementia champions’.

Over four years there were 96 sessions delivered to 55 participants (29 carers, 26 people 
with dementia). The combination of arts and the environment is one that isn’t otherwise 
available to this hard to reach and often isolated group, and it has proved hugely rewarding. 
The creative and relaxed atmosphere in sessions provided participants with a wonderful 
experience, which they enthusiastically attended on a regular basis. Since the end of BIG 
Lottery funding, the MindSCAPE group now forms part of the Branching Out project led by 
Artspace Cinderford and funded by the Arts Council England. 

Priority 5: Healthy lifestyles
Collectively it is estimated that ‘lifestyle factors’ are responsible for 25% of overall health 
outcomes. Key lifestyle factors include things like diet and physical activity, maintaining a 
healthy weight, smoking, alcohol consumption and drug use. 

From the Health and Wellbeing Board’s perspective, the focus needs to be on where 
programmes require transformative co-ordinated action across a broad range of 
stakeholders to have impact at a population level. For this priority, initially the Health and 
Wellbeing Board will focus on healthy weight. Obesity reduces life expectancy by an average 
of three years, while severe obesity reduces it by eight years. People living with obesity are 
at increased risk of a range of health issues, including diabetes, heart disease, stroke, 
cancer, mental ill-health and musculoskeletal problems. Obesity is a health inequalities issue 
with children living in the most deprived parts of the county being twice as likely to be 
affected as those living in the least deprived areas.

Where are we now?

Page 50



• Two thirds of adults in Gloucestershire are overweight and of these approximately 
120,000 are living with obesity.

• One in ten (9.9%) 4-5 year olds and nearly one in five (17.8%) 10-11 year olds in 
Gloucestershire are living with obesity.

• Gloucester City has the highest level of childhood obesity in the South West region 
(21.2% of 10-11 year olds compared to 16.8% regionally). Of particular concern are 
escalating levels of severe obesity affecting 5% of 10-11 year olds in Gloucester 
(compared to 4.2% nationally).

• There are clear inequalities in childhood obesity with higher rates in the most deprived 
areas. In 2016/17 25.7% of pupils living in the most deprived decile are likely to be obese 
in Year 6, this compares to 11.2% of pupils living in the least deprived decile.

Where do we want to be?
In line with the national ambition for reducing childhood obesity we will aim to halve the level 
of childhood obesity among children living in Gloucestershire, and to significantly reduce the 
gap in the obesity rate between children living in the most and least deprived parts of the 
county by 2030.

How will we get there?
Traditional approaches focusing on specific interventions to encourage people to alter their 
eating and physical activity habits are unlikely to reduce childhood obesity at a population 
level.

Emerging evidence suggests that whole systems approaches, involving a range of joined up 
actions to address the social, economic and environmental factors affecting eating and 
physical activity behaviours can be effective.

Evidence on how to operationalise such an approach is still in its infancy. For this reason we 
will adopt a ‘test and learn’ approach to shape our local programme. This will include action 
to:
• Prevent excess weight gain by: creating healthier physical activity and food environments.
• Working with communities, and with Gloucestershire Moves to understand and shift social 
norms around eating and physical activity.
• Equip those already affected by obesity with skills for sustainable weight loss.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The healthy weight programme and governance arrangements are being reviewed to include 
wider representation, and a balanced scorecard and learning framework are being 
developed. This will link to key areas of work including Gloucestershire Moves, and the
service development work being delivered through the Adult Weight Management Board.

Spotlight on: Podsmead Food and Families Project
Community based insight research was conducted in Podsmead and led by 
HealthWatchduring 2018 to understand the factors affecting residents’ eating patterns,

Page 51



and their ideas and aspirations around food. A localised ‘food system map’ has been 
developed using this insight. This will help to guide local action.

A follow up Food and Families Community Fun Day will be used to scope the skills and 
experiences of residents on the estate and support the community to enact the improvement 
ideas put forward last year. This will also seek to identify where support from other partners 
is needed, for example, in influencing local policy decisions affecting the food environment. 
A community network will be established to support delivery and capture evidence of impact 
and wider learning.

Priority 6: Early years and best start in life
Early years describes the journey from pregnancy to an aged 5 child. This life stage, and 
particularly the first 1,001 days, is accepted to be the most significant in a child’s 
development in influencing their future health, emotional and social wellbeing than any other 
time in their life.

Where are we now?
On average, there are around 6,700 live births per year in our county. Gloucestershire is set 
to see an increase in the population aged 0-19 between 2017 and 2021 of 5.4% (7,508 
children) with a disproportionate increase in children aged 0-4 years.
• Around one in ten (10.9%) women in Gloucestershire are recorded as smokers when 

their baby is born.
• Over three quarters of women in Gloucestershire (77%) initiate breastfeeding, although 

this figure has remained fairly static.
• Less than three quarters (69.2%) of children in Gloucestershire have achieved a good 

level of development by the end of reception. This is worse than the national average. 
• There are clear inequalities in school readiness (good level of development) with 48.9% 

of pupils with free school meal status achieving a good level of development at the end 
of reception, this was significantly lower than the average for all pupils. 

Where do we want to be?
The ambition is for every resident in Gloucestershire to have the best start in life.

How will we get there?
The key areas of focus include:
• Attachment and responsive parenting
• Childhood poverty
• Healthy lifestyles including oral health
• Childhood immunisations in 0-5 year olds
• School readiness (with a focus on those in receipt of free school meals)
• Vulnerable children
• Breastfeeding
• Smoking in pregnancy and early years
• ACEs

How will this be delivered and monitored?

Page 52



There is currently no single overarching partnership in Gloucestershire for a co-ordinated 
approach to achieving this ambition. Further work is required to scope this Health and 
Wellbeing Board priority and to understand where the Board can add the greatest value. 
This is a partnership agenda that will need to work with an existing and emerging structure of 
work programmes and governance, which includes:
• Better Births
• Children and Families Partnership Framework
• Children’s Improvement Plan
• Safeguarding Children and the new Working Together guidance
• Child Friendly Gloucestershire
• Mental Health Trailblazer Pilot
• ACEs Partnership
The aim is to achieve better continuity, integration, efficiency, reduced duplication and 
ultimately improved outcomes.

Spotlight on: Better births
Gloucestershire Local Maternity System (LMS) brings together clinicians and provider 
organisations, commissioners and service users from across the Integrated Care System 
Network to plan and deliver maternity and early years care. In response to the National 
Maternity Review, this delivers our Better Births Maternity Transformation Plan. Some of the 
successes to date include:
• Redesigning the antenatal education offer to ensure that it meets the needs of women, is 
based on evidence and includes an integrated approach with the Health Visiting Service so 
women and families receive continuity of care.
• Piloting of a multi-professional integrated postnatal pathway to ensure that women
and families receive a more joined up approach to care between health visiting and 
maternity services.
• Developing services so that more women have access to the same team of midwives 
throughout their journey through pregnancy, birth and the early years. This model has been 
shown to improve a number of outcomes.
• Set up a Maternity Voices Partnership to ensure that the voice of women is embedded in 
continual service improvement.
• Keeping more mums and babies together in the postnatal period, providing alternative safe 
options of care avoiding admissions of babies to the neonatal unit.
• Developing a system wide Safety Improvement Plan to deliver high quality care to every 
woman and family.

Spotlight on: A district level approach - No Child Left Behind
Cheltenham partners recently commissioned a needs assessment that highlighted the extent 
of child poverty in the town. The assessment told us that 4,300 children and young people 
are growing up in poverty and that those children, when compared to their more affluent 
peers are then facing significant challenges such as poorer education attainment, higher 
rates of exclusion, higher risk of being victims of crime, higher risk of being obese, higher 
risk of being open to social care, higher risk of self-harm.

Page 53



In response to the needs assessment, Cheltenham Borough Council and its partners 
committed to a year of action, called No Child Left Behind, that is:
• Highlighting the issue of children growing up in poverty in Cheltenham and the inequality 
between them and their more affluent peers.
• Starting to address the inequality gap beginning with a 12 month programme of events and 
activities.
• A call to action for all sectors to work together to make transformational change over the 
longer-term.
Partners have looked at the main issues associated with child poverty and devised a year of 
themed action. Each month focuses on a key area with events, activities and campaigns to 
engage young people, strengthen communities and help people to understand what they 
can do if they are experiencing difficulties. Examples of the themes include:
• #OurTown – activity included over 100 people attending a local poverty summit.
• #PositiveRelationships – during this campaign month a series of training and awareness 
raising sessions were provided for 85 professionals and teachers on how to support young 
people experiencing domestic abuse.
• #StrongFamilies – a screening of the ground-breaking documentary ‘Resilience: The 
biology of stress & the science of hope’ to 200 professionals and a plan to relaunch the 
Inspiring Families project.

Priority 7: Housing and health
The age, condition and affordability of housing have a number of health consequences 
relating to overcrowding, fuel poverty and excessive cold, respiratory problems, and 
emotional wellbeing. Poor housing has an impact on the health outcomes for children and 
older people in particular, including psychological distress and mental disorders, with people 
in crowded conditions tending to suffer from multiple deprivation. People who do not have 
access to affordable housing and may be homeless or at risk of homelessness are more 
likely to experience worse health outcomes than the general population.

Where are we now?
The ratio of house prices to earnings in 2015 was higher than the national average in every 
district except Gloucester, indicating that houses are unaffordable for residents on lower 
incomes. Average rental costs are in line with the regional average but there are wide 
variations across the county.

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) in 2015 listed 33 areas in Gloucestershire in the 
most deprived 10% nationally for ‘Barriers to Housing and Services’. The housing aspect of 
this indicator measures household overcrowding, homelessness, and housing affordability. 
This accounts for 9.9% of the population in the county. 

The IMD also assesses ‘Living Environment’ deprivation, which includes indoor living 
environment, housing in poor condition, and houses without central heating. There are 17 
areas of Gloucestershire in the 10% most deprived nationally in this domain which accounts 
for 28,126 people (4.6%).

Where do we want to be?

Page 54



We want to ensure health and wellbeing are promoted through improvements in the quality, 
affordability, availability, and suitability of housing. This is all through a partnership approach. 
Further work is needed to understand what the one or two main housing objectives under 
this priority should be and where the Health and Wellbeing Board can add the greatest 
value.

How will we get there?
Subject to further scoping, the main areas could include:
• Housing design and quality
• Housing conditions
• Homelessness and housing for those in vulnerable circumstances
• Housing with care
• Intergenerational living
• Surrounding physical infrastructure
• Surrounding community infrastructure

How will this be delivered and monitored?
There is no one single board which addresses housing and health at a county wide level. 
Relevant groups and boards include:
• Strategic Housing Programme Board
• Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Group/Strategic Directors
• Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee
• Joint Core Strategy Planning Delivery Group
• County Planners Group
• County Homelessness Implementation Group (CHIG)
Housing is also linked to the Vision 2050 Boards: Central Gloucestershire Growth Board,
Central Gloucestershire City Region Board, Severn Vale Board and Rural Ambition Board. 
This list is by no means exhaustive and it does not reflect district level boards. Further work 
is being undertaken to scope out this priority and fully understand where the Health and 
Wellbeing Board can most add value to improving housing and health.

Spotlight on: Healthy homes Initiative
The joint housing action plan has provided funding for a number of initiatives to improve 
people’s health and wellbeing. One of these projects is the Citizens Advice Bureau healthy 
homes team. They can take referrals from health teams who have identified people whose 
home environment is having a negative impact on their health. Self-referral is also possible 
as is referral from other statutory and voluntary organisations. Comprehensive benefits 
advice is provided and, where appropriate, people can be referred in to Warm and Well for 
energy efficiency improvements or heating systems. They will also be signposted to other 
support services where appropriate. 

This case features a woman aged 75 diagnosed with cancer and undergoing chemotherapy. 
She was referred to the Citizens Advice Bureau healthy homes team by the cancer support 
team. She was living on her own, she was very concerned about her health and her mental 
health was suffering as a result. In her baseline assessment she reported 8/10 for feeling 
anxious and 3/10 for feeling worthwhile. The caseworker supported her around her finances 

Page 55



and identified benefits that she was eligible for but not currently receiving. She was also 
referred to the Warm and Well service and a grant was provided so her boiler could be 
replaced. This not only saved her money but improved her home environment and reduced 
her risk of illness linked to her vulnerable condition following her treatment. A follow up 
assessment recorded 5/10 for anxiety and 6/10 for feeling worthwhile alongside the 
expected health benefits of having a warmer home.

Priority 8: Air quality 
Air quality is a measure of the degree to which the air in a given location is free from any 
chemical, physical or biological agent that modifies the natural characteristics of the 
atmosphere. Key sources of air pollution in the UK include transport, energy production, 
industry and manufacturing, domestic combustion, and farming. Once released, pollution is 
dispersed and can travel great distances within and between countries. Poor air quality is a 
source of inequality, where those with the poorest health and life expectancy are also the 
more likely to be exposed to poor air and suffer the worst outcomes.

Where are we now?
Gloucestershire’s air quality levels are broadly in line with regional averages.  However, 
there is marked variation between and within districts.

Estimated levels of PM2.5 are highest in Tewksbury and Cheltenham.

Highest estimated concentrations for nitrogen dioxide are in North Gloucester, Cheltenham 
and around Gloucestershire Airport.

Where do we want to be?
We want organisations, professionals and the public across Gloucestershire to work together 
to improve air quality in the county and reduce the impact of air pollution on human health 
and the environment.

How will we get there?
Our focus for tackling air quality will be around applying joined up, multi-agency approaches 
to reducing the production of air pollutants, as well as reducing the impact air pollution has 
on health and the environment.  This joined up approach is really important as we need to 
ensure that actions in one area do not just move the problem to another community.  
Additionally, we will have the most impact when the whole system works together in an 
integrated way to tackle this problem.  

There are three working groups focussing on different aspects of improving air quality.  

 Active travel: 
 Switching journeys from cars to walking, cycling and public transport decreases 

overall air pollution levels and has a beneficial impact on health.
 We will work with schools and employers to create active travel plans and also 

promote individual behaviour change.
 Electric vehicles and cleaner fleets and public transport:

 Switching to a low emission vehicle, while not completely non-polluting, has the 
potential to reduce air pollution caused by traffic.

Page 56



 Work will be done with public sector organisations to improve fleet standards and 
to ensure local infrastructure supports and promotes electric vehicle use.

 Air Quality monitoring and behaviour change:
 A more accurate picture of air pollution in the county will support development 

and evaluation of effective interventions.
 We will augment air quality monitoring to include particulate matter
 We will focus on bespoke behaviour change interventions; part of this will involve 

recruiting a post to support this.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership (GAQHP) is a multi-agency group 
which has responsibility for the development and implementation of the Gloucestershire Air 
Quality and Health Strategy. GAQHP is made up of stakeholders from the following 
organisations: Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet Members; Gloucestershire County 
Council Officers; District Environmental Health services; Gloucestershire Local Enterprise 
Partnership; Chairs of Air Quality and Health delivery work groups; Gloucestershire NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Group; Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; 
Gloucestershire University; Gloucestershire Rural Community Council; Stage Coach; 
schools representatives; Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust; Gloucestershire Police 
Constabulary; as well as members and organisations co-opted as required to inform or 
advance the strategy and work plans. 

The Partnership reports into the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB), and 
scrutiny is provided by both the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(HCOSC) and the Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(ECOSC). 

Fact 1:
In the UK there are 40,000 deaths a year attributed to poor air quality

Fact 2:
Key air pollutants include particulate matter, NOX, sulphur dioxide and ozone

Fact 3
There is no safe level of exposure to pollutants like particulate matter and NOX

Spotlight on: Climate Change and Air Quality £1m Action Fund
Gloucestershire County Council has established a £1 million action fund to kick-start climate 
change and air quality improvement projects.  The Fund aims to accelerate the development 
of initiatives across the county to promote the shift to a low carbon economy, support 
resilience to climate change and improved air quality.  

The fund is designed to help Gloucestershire realise its potential to be at the forefront in 
responding to the climate emergency.  It is designed to facilitate partnership working with 
innovative organisations and individuals, to invest in Gloucestershire’s people and 
encourage different sectors to shift their carbon ambitions.  It can generate opportunities for 
enterprise, opening doors for innovation and to fund opportunities that might otherwise have 
remained unrealised.  

Page 57



What will the fund support?
 Projects which support the delivery a low carbon economy.
 Projects which align with the delivery of Gloucestershire County Council’s “Looking to 

the Future”, the Gloucestershire Air Quality & Health Strategy, the Local Industrial 
Strategy and Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy.

 Projects which are primarily focused on benefiting the residents of Gloucestershire 
and/or the low carbon economy.

Proposals will be given a greater positive scoring if they
 Demonstrate innovative thinking
 Are evidence based
 Enable learning from the project to be shared
 Can demonstrate early deliverability, particularly in years 1 and 2 
 Demonstrate a system-wide approach
 Provide evidence of match funding
 Demonstrate a significant sustained population-level impact
 Demonstrate that they will bring additional revenue into the county
 Demonstrate ongoing benefit to Gloucestershire beyond the funding period

For more information visit our website or email GlosClimate@gloucestershire.gov.uk

7. Our approach to delivering the strategy
To deliver the priorities, we have considered some Health and Wellbeing Board principles for 
ways of working:

Principles for ways of working
• A systems leader: The Health and Wellbeing Board will take a position as a systems 
leader to enable and facilitate change to improve population health and wellbeing.
• Prevention focused: Developing a system wide shared understanding and commitment to 
prevention and early intervention.
• Collaborative and community centred: Taking a strengths based, community centred 
approach. Ensuring a collaborative approach engaging communities in ongoing 
conversations about the health and wellbeing priorities, assets and how we measure 
success.
• Holistic: Taking a whole person, whole life, whole population and environment approach to 
prevention based on a ‘what matters to you’ conversations.
• Equally valuing physical and mental health: Ensuring equality in how we think about 
mental health and physical health and how they are valued.
• Tackling health inequalities: Developing shared understanding and commitment to 
addressing the unfair differences in health status that exist between people due to social, 
geographical, biological or other factors.
• Addressing the wider determinants of health and wellbeing:
Recognising that many poor outcomes in health and wellbeing result from a complex 
interaction and accumulation of factors and poor life chances over time.
• Recognising where we add value: Focusing on actions where by working together we 
can make the biggest difference to those in the greatest need. Developing a place based 
approach is a key way of putting into operation the overall vision for health and wellbeing. 

Page 58

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/corporate-plans-and-strategies/looking-to-the-future-new-council-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/corporate-plans-and-strategies/looking-to-the-future-new-council-strategy/
https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/
https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/
https://www.gfirstlep.com/about-us/our-vision-gloucestershire-energy-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/
mailto:GlosClimate@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This strategy gives an overarching set of priorities but recognises the need for a flexible 
approach to delivery to reflect the differences at local, community levels.

A shared understanding of prevention
The Health and Wellbeing Board has a key role in ensuring that there is a sustained focus 
on embedding prevention across the health and social care system, taking a place-based 
approach (looking at communities and neighbourhoods) that goes beyond just thinking about 
what public sector services provide.

The Local Government Association Peer Challenge recommended that a clear and 
consistent definition of ‘prevention’ should be developed, owned and used by all partners. 
Prevention means different things to different people. The framework of primary, secondary 
and tertiary prevention is useful for helping to define what we mean by prevention: IMAGE

At a population level, health and wellbeing improvement opportunities that look to prevent 
the need for treatment services are more cost effective than treating people once they get ill.

Addressing health inequalities
Tackling poverty and inequality is a theme running across all of our health and wellbeing 
priorities. In line with the NHS Long-Term Plan, we are committed to a more concerted and 
systematic approach to reducing health inequalities. We remain dedicated to improving 
outcomes for all, but for those in the worst position fastest.

We recognise that inequalities can be identified according to where people live. This is 
particularly true in some areas where there are high levels of deprivation and need but there 
are also inequalities between genders, ethnicities, ages and abilities that we need to tackle. 
We will take an evidence based approach to reducing health inequalities through our work 
on each of the priorities.

Our approach to addressing health inequalities 

System wide action: Addressing health inequalities is not about single initiatives. It needs 
to be central to everything we do and therefore is the ‘golden thread’ through the delivery of 
this stratregy. It requires a whole systems approach, recognising the complexity of the issue. 

Intelligence driven and evidence based: We will continue to use the available data and 
intelligence sources such as IAF indicator 106a and Outcome Framework Indicators, to 
understand our baseline and set trajectories. However, we need to better understand what is 
driving health inequalities. Using Population Health Management, we will continue to 
develop our local understanding. 

We will use the ‘Menu of Evidence Based Interventions for Addressing Health Inequalities’ to 
inform our approach.

Community centered / Strengths based: Fundamental to addressing health inequalities, is 
the strengths based approach. Gloucestershire already has some excellent examples of 
working in this way but will continue to develop this through the development of The 
Gloucestershire Way. 

Page 59



Place based: Place based working provides an excellent foundation for addressing health 
inequalities in our local areas. The recently published PHE/LGA/ADPH guidance on ‘Place 
Based Approaches for Reducing Health Inequalities’ will be used to inform the local 
approach and plans. The Population Intervention Triangle provides a framework for action 
and will be used as a tool locally.

Proportionate universalism: The concept of applying proportion universalism is a key 
principle ensuring that universal services are offered with added intensive support for 
vulnerable groups. This is effective at reaching all of those that need them by ensuring that 
there are fewer or no barriers.

Working with adults with complex lives
We recognise that some adults in vulnerable circumstances frequently come into contact 
with many different services including health and social care, community and 
accommodation based support, mental health services, specialist substance misuse 
services, domestic abuse services and the criminal justice system. They are more likely to 
experience a range of health inequalities. We also recognise that the commissioning and 
provider arrangements for these services can be complex. Often more joined-up, assertive 
and creative solutions underpinned by a strengths based approach are needed.

8 Delivering the priorities
Whilst all of the priorities need a whole systems approach, it remains important to have an 
identified lead for each priority. There will be an identified partnership and a named Health 
and Wellbeing Board member responsible for the strategic oversight of each priority (see
table 1).

Table 1: Strategic leadership for each priority

Priority Partnership Board Health and Wellbeing Board 
member lead

Physical activity We Can Move Dr Andy Seymour
ACEs and resilience ACEs Panel ACC
Mental Wellbeing tbc Tbc
Social isolation Enabling Active Communities Mary Hutton / Chris Brierley
Early years / Best start tbc Andy Dempsey
Housing Strategic Directors Anne Brinkhoff
Healthy lifestyles Healthy weight programme 

board
Sarah Scott

9. Measuring success
The overarching framework for measuring success for the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy is from the national outcomes framework. A number of high level indicators from the 
Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) will be viewed to assess health and wellbeing:

Page 60



Healthy life expectancy at birth (male)
Healthy life expectancy at birth (female)
Under 75 mortality rate from all causes
Inequality in life expectancy at birth (male)
Inequality in life expectancy at birth (female)

Table 2 shows the core indicators used relating to the specific priorities and the current 
position. Further indicators will be identified. Each priority will have a statement of strategic 
intent providing greater detail on the objectives and performance management. The Health 
and Wellbeing Board regularly monitors and reviews this strategy.

Table 2: Key indicator set

Priority Key indicator Gloucestershire 
baseline

95% CI South 
West

England Date of 
baseline

Source

Physical 
activity

Percentage of 
physically 
inactive adults

18.9 17.6 – 
20.3

18.7 22.2 2018/19 PHOF 
C17b

Self reported 
wellbeing – 
people with high 
anxiety score

17.8 15.0 – 
20.7

19.6 19.7 2018/19 PHOF 
C28d

Mental 
wellbeing

Self reported 
wellbeing – 
people with low 
happiness score

6.7 4.9 – 
8.4

7.3 7.8 2018/19 PHOF 
C28c

Percentage of 
adult social care 
users who have 
as much social 
contact as they 
would like

49.9 46.4 – 
53.4

46.6 45.9 2018/19 PHOF 
B18a

Social 
isolation / 
loneliness

Percentage of 
adult carers who 
have as much 
social contact as 
they would like 
(age 18+)

30.8 27.8 – 
33.8

28.1 32.5 2018/19 PHOF 
B18b

Reception: 
Prevalence of 
overweight 
(including 
obesity)

22.0 21.0 – 
23.1

22.0 22.6 2018/9 PHOF 
C09a

Health 
lifestyles 
– health 
weight

Year 6: 
Prevalence of 
overweight 
(including 
obesity)

31.9 30.8 – 
33.0

29.9 34.3 2018/19 PHOF

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Housing and Health

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Anne Brinkhoff, Corporate Director, Gloucester City Council

Author Jennifer Taylor, Lead Commissioner (Public Health), 
Gloucestershire County Council and Anne Brinkhoff, Corporate 
Director, Gloucester City Council

Organisation On behalf of Gloucestershire Strategic Directors Group

Key Issues:  
 Health & Wellbeing Board has agreed a proposal to focus on:

o Ensuring new housing development promotes good health and wellbeing
o Bringing existing housing stock conditions up to standard
o Providing a diverse housing offer

 Progress has been made to deliver against these, with further information on 
activity set out in this report

 Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to consider its approach and added value to 
housing and health as set out in the recommendations

Recommendations to Board: 
The Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to:
 Note the progress on the Housing & Health priority of the draft Health & Wellbeing 

Strategy and agree support for its continuation as set out in this paper
 Commit to supporting the planned actions emerging from the Health Foundation 

programme to improve housing conditions, including joining up of data and 
intelligence and development of a proposal for potential future investment

 Consider and discuss the Board’s appetite to ‘change the conversation’ with 
developers seeking to build in the county

 Consider and discuss the role of the Health & Wellbeing Board in championing 
this agenda and adding value to planned activity by setting ambitious 
expectations for healthy places and engaging in housing, potentially through a 
statement of intent as suggested in Section 3.

Financial/Resource Implications: 
Future financial investment may be required to support activity to improve housing 
stock conditions, subject to a further proposal (see main body of the paper)

Page 63

Agenda Item 9



2

Housing and Health:
A Report for the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

1. Introduction
Following prioritisation of housing and health in the draft Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy, a proposal was brought to the Health & Wellbeing Board meeting in September 
2019 on behalf of the Strategic Directors Group. This sought the Board’s approval for a 
focus on:

1. Ensuring new housing development promotes good health and wellbeing
2. Bringing existing housing stock conditions up to standard
3. Providing a diverse housing offer.

This proposal recognised that there is a great deal of activity already underway and a well 
established governance structure for the complex housing agenda in Gloucestershire. For 
example, Gloucestershire partners’ innovative decision to pool the Disabled Facilities Grant 
(DFG) in 2017 has led to a range of activity to address housing and care/health related 
needs. There is also extensive work underway to improve homelessness pathways, 
including investment by Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) in 
Somewhere Safe to Stay hubs and Navigator Team. The Health & Wellbeing Board proposal 
sought to add value to this existing activity and focus efforts on gaps that exist, rather than to 
duplicate.

Logic models were produced for the first two areas of focus (attached at Appendix A), with 
the third described as a longer term aim that links across both of the other two. Health & 
Wellbeing Board agreed the proposal and delegated responsibility for implementation to the 
Strategic Directors Group.

2. Progress to date
Since September 2019, partners have made good progress across the three areas of focus, 
as summarised in the following paragraphs.

2.1 New housing development
A range of actions have been progressed, including:
 The draft Gloucestershire Health Impact Assessment (HIA) framework was tested on 

the draft Stroud Local Plan Review in January 2020. This was a collaborative exercise 
between Public Health and Stroud District Council planners and the output will inform the 
next iteration of the Stroud Local Plan, as well as provide learning for the roll out of the 
HIA framework in other districts

 A Planning Healthy Places Community of Practice (CoP) has been established, to 
bring together practitioners from across the system to share learning and coordinate 
activity. The first workshop in September 2019 focused on designing age- and dementia-
friendly developments and the Building with Nature benchmark. The next event will be 
hosted by Active Gloucestershire and will involve system mapping of active design

 Gloucestershire County Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council hosted a workshop in 
November 2019 led by the Town & Country Planning Association (TCPA) and University 
of the West of England (UWE) to explore the use of health evidence in neighbourhood 

Page 64



3

plans. TCPA is now producing a national framework for neighbourhood planning groups, 
based on Gloucestershire’s work

 Ongoing influence of Local Plans, e.g. the Gloucester City Plan, and strategic 
allocations, e.g. the Cyber Central Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), to ensure 
that health and wellbeing is embedded throughout. This has included making 
connections with other relevant agendas, e.g. the emerging Gloucestershire Food 
Strategy.

2.2 Existing housing stock conditions
In November, Gloucestershire partners identified an opportunity to engage in a national 
action research programme that would support this strand of the Health & Wellbeing Board’s 
housing and health priority. Gloucestershire was selected as one of four local authority areas 
for the wider determinants of health programme led by the Health Foundation, in 
collaboration with the Design Council, Shared Intelligence and the Leadership Centre. 

Gloucestershire’s project uses design principles and tools to ensure the existing housing 
stock in the county is fit for a healthy future.

The project team is made up of:
 Anne Brinkhoff, Corporate Director, Gloucester City Council
 Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council
 Maria Hickman, Housing Renewal Manager, Stroud District Council
 Neil Penny, Health & Social Care Commissioning Manager, Gloucestershire County 

Council & Gloucestershire CCG
 Paul Stephenson, Chief Executive, Cheltenham Borough Homes
 Jennifer Taylor, Lead Commissioner (Public Health), Gloucestershire County Council
 Yvonne Welsh, Community Wellbeing (Private Sector Housing) Team Leader, 

Gloucester City Council

The collaborating partners undertook a small amount of ethnographic research with 
residents in Gloucester and Cheltenham, the findings of which informed the project team’s 
action research at two facilitated workshops during January and February. These workshops 
enabled the team to define the actions needed to address this strand.

The project team has focused on addressing excess cold and damp as a key determinant of 
physical and mental health. It has recognised that there are already interventions in place, 
e.g. the Warm & Well service, but that to achieve a step change in improvement, partners 
would need to better understand where our efforts could have their greatest impact, e.g. in 
owner occupied properties or by engaging differently with tenants.

As a result of the project, a number of workstreams are now in development:
 Joining together data and insight, including:

o Collaboration to join up health, social care and housing data and use this more 
proactively to target intervention and utilise a wider range of levers for change

o The possibility of commissioning a housing conditions survey. It has been ten 
years since the last survey and this project has identified a need for improved 
intelligence to support better targeting of interventions. However, this requires 

Page 65



4

significant investment and the project team is keen to explore options to ensure any 
survey adds value to existing data and intelligence

o Gloucester City Council is piloting a ‘journaling’ approach to better understand the 
qualitative impact of cold and damp on the health and wellbeing of residents. This 
should allow officers to consider not only enforcement options and interventions but 
also strengths-based and community approaches

 Leadership development across the strategic partnerships involved in housing, to 
ensure an aligned and ambitious approach to housing and health, through an initial 
workshop on 13th March

 Building links between housing and health, e.g. through Gloucester Integrated 
Locality Partnership (ILP), which has prioritised respiratory disease, and alignment with 
the Community Wellbeing teams and social prescribing link workers, to improve referrals 
to help with housing conditions and the development of creative solutions.

2.3 A diverse housing offer
In the initial proposal to the Health & Wellbeing Board, the provision of a diverse housing 
offer was described as a longer term aim, which cuts across both new and existing housing 
stock and neighbourhoods. However, there is activity taking place, particularly under the 
Better Care Fund Housing, Health and Care initiatives, which contribute to the overall aim of 
a diverse housing offer. 

This current activity includes:
 Homeshare – homesharing enables an older person to share their house with a younger 

person in return for ten hours of support a week. This helps the older person remain in 
their own home and also reduces loneliness and isolation for both parties. A Homeshare 
scheme has been set up in Gloucestershire, run by Age UK with support from the CCG

 Park Homes Improvement Programme – since April 2019, contractors have been 
appointed to work in the county and offer insulation to park home residents. As well as a 
reduction of up to 50% in heating bills, the improvements are expected to reduce damp 
and condensation, improve the appearance of the property and reduce the carbon 
footprint

 Frailty Housing Officer – this post has been in place for over a year and has delivered 
positive outcomes, e.g. a woman who worked with the officer following a stroke and was 
supported out of residential care, in to extra care housing giving her greater 
independence.

3. Next Steps and Health & Wellbeing Board Role
Following the agreement by the Board of the three strands of the housing and health priority, 
further work has been taking place to better define the action needed, as set out in this 
paper. This work has identified a number of next steps, which will continue to be developed 
into clear actions and milestones by partners, reporting to the Strategic Directors group.

However, as a Health & Wellbeing Strategy priority, the Board has a leadership role in this 
that champions the agenda, adds value to planned activity and collaborates to unlock 
barriers.

Page 66



5

Given the wide range of activity already underway, it is suggested that the Health & 
Wellbeing Board makes a clear statement of intent for healthier housing stock and 
neighbourhoods – both new and existing – and uses its considerable collective influence to 
effect change where this requires additional action.

For example, a key priority identified through the work to date – and referred to at the 
September 2019 Health & Wellbeing Board meeting – is the engagement of developers in 
delivering on aspirations for healthier places. This could build on the Barriers to 
Development project led by the GFirst Construction & Infrastructure business group but 
would require a position to be taken by the Board on its appetite to engage differently. 
Similarly, the Board could consider how the Integrated Care System’s place based approach 
can support this agenda, e.g. through Integrated Locality Partnership discussions.

The Health & Wellbeing Board may also wish to consider its role in supporting a step change 
in action to improve existing housing stock conditions. In particular, this might include 
helping to ‘unlock’ potential barriers to joining up data and intelligence and consideration of 
future proposals for investment in a housing conditions survey or alternative approach.

4. Recommendations
The Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to:
 Note the progress on the Housing & Health priority of the draft Health & Wellbeing 

Strategy and agree support for its continuation as set out in this paper
 Commit to supporting the planned actions emerging from the Health Foundation 

programme to improve housing conditions, including joining up of data and intelligence 
and development of a proposal for potential future investment

 Consider and discuss the Board’s appetite to ‘change the conversation’ with developers 
seeking to build in the county

 Consider and discuss the role of the Health & Wellbeing Board in championing this 
agenda and adding value to planned activity by setting ambitious expectations for 
healthy places and engaging in housing, potentially through a statement of intent as 
suggested in Section 3.

Page 67



6

Appendix A – Logic Models

Inputs

Personnel 
(Commissioners, 

Market Providers, 
in-house teams)

Funding (Better 
Care Fund, 

Commissioning 
Budgets) 

Equipment 
(adaptations, 

assistive 
technologies)

Objectives Activities (in the system, 
organisations, ILPs, CPGs, 

communities))

Outputs 
(deliverables)

Outcomes (results) Impact

Better health and 
wellbeing across 
communities

Reduced health 
inequalities

 

Make sure that existing 
housing stock in the 

county is of a standard 
that does not negatively 

impact on people’s 
health. In particular this 

relates to the 
improvement of energy 
efficiency, the reduction 

of health & safety 
hazards, the reduction 

of overcrowding and the 
right adaptations and 
provision of adaptive 

technologies for 
households in need. 

Improve the joining up of 
data and intelligence to 
better inform targeting and 
decision making. This may 
include commissioning a 
robust private sector 
housing stock condition 
survey 

Maintain and scale up the 
Warm and Well Partnership 

Data and analysis to 
understand stock condition 
and variations across the 
County.  Identified 
priorities for investment 
and resource allocation

Safer homes with fewer 
risks of falls. Reduced 
hospital admissions. 
Reduced delays in hospital 
discharge. Increased 
independent living

Reduced overcrowding. 
Improvement in 
educational attainments, 
family relationships and 
community

Provision of energy advice. 
Home improvements
Increased public awareness 
around energy issues

Warmer, more energy efficient 
homes

Reduced fuel poverty

Cohesion  

Vision and ambition: We want to ensure health and wellbeing are promoted through improvements in the quality, availability, affordability, suitability and 
sustainability of current and future homes and neighbourhoods

Enablers
H&WB influence and leadership Warm and Well Partnership and activity Private Sector Housing Officer Group 

P
age 68



7

Inputs

Capacity and 
technical advice 

from Public 
Health team

Capacity and 
skills of local 

planning 
authority teams

National and 
local guidance 

and evidence on 
planning and 

health

Objectives Activities (in the system, 
organisations, ILPs, CPGs, 

communities))

Outputs 
(deliverables)

Outcomes (results) Impact

Better health and 
wellbeing across 
communities

Reduced health 
inequalities

 

Make sure that new 
homes and estates are 
designed and built in a 

way that promotes 
health and wellbeing 

and minimises negative 
impacts

Ensure that proposals 
for economic growth 

aim at inclusive growth 
to address health 

inequalities, e.g. driven 
by the current 

imbalance of wages : 
house prices

Encourage and support LPAs to 
create ambitious planning 
policy frameworks and health 
impact assessment tools for 
the design of homes and 
neighbourhoods

Support and train planners 
and Planning Committees 
to recognise and expect 
design that promotes 
wellbeing and health

Identify and showcase beacon 
developments across the 
County in order to create a 
shift in expectations with 
residents, planning authorities 
and developers

Local planning policy, e.g. 
Local Plans, Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD)

Health Impact Assessment 
methodology

Homes and neighbourhoods 
have a positive rather than 
negative impact on health and 
wellbeing

CPD offer for planners and 
planning committees
Guidance on what ‘good’ 
looks like
Signposting to other 
sources of data and info

Homes and 
neighbourhoods support 
residents to live healthier 
lifestyles

Examples of good practice in 
‘what works’ in developing 
healthy neighbourhoods

Clear standards / expectations 
for healthy homes and 
neighbourhoods

Vision and ambition: We want to ensure health and wellbeing are promoted through improvements in the quality, availability, affordability, suitability and 
sustainability of current and future homes and neighbourhoods

Enablers
Building with Nature benchmark H&WB influence and leadership National Planning Policy Framework

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report title A shared vision/plan for all children and young people in 
Gloucestershire

Item for
decision or 
information?

Information and decision

Sponsor Chris Spencer: Director of Children’s Services
Dame Janet Trotter: Child Friendly Gloucestershire

Author Andy Dempsey: Director of Partnerships and Strategy
Dame Janet Trotter: Child Friendly Gloucestershire

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council Children’s Services
Key Issues:

1. At it’s meeting on 21 January, Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board 
approved the development of a draft plan/vision for children and young people, 
as the basis for a wider consultation and engagement exercise to take place 
over the spring/summer 2020.  A copy of a draft document, which has been 
prepared for consultative purposes, is attached at Appendix 1.

2. The draft document takes account of the views of young people and partner 
agencies attending the recent consultative events and wider range of 
consultative exercises with young people undertaken by various organisations 
over the past year.

3. The document meshes with the County’s 2050 Vision acknowledging that 
children born today will be well into their career by 2050 and that effective 
investment now will contribute to Gloucestershire’s development over the 
longer term.  It is not envisaged that this will require major new resources but 
rather a realignment of existing capacity in order to maximise impact in line with 
the strategic priorities of Vision 2050, as they relate to children and young 
people.

4. The draft document is intended to be succinct and provide the starting point for 
a wider set of conversations.  It has the following features:

 Universal – it encompasses all children and young people in the county.
.

 Aspirational – it seeks to improve outcomes for all children and young 
people and within that closing the outcome gap for the most vulnerable.

 High level – it sets out a small number of strategic priorities.

 Collaborative – it seeks to explore new and different ways of cross-sector 
collaboration.  This acknowledges that the previous plan was primarily a 
local authority initiative.

5. Subject to approval by the Health and Wellbeing Board it is proposed to 
commence a programme of wider consultation including working with a group 
of young people who will be trained to facilitate a programme of consultation 

Page 71

Agenda Item 10



events out in localities and with key partners and stakeholders.  The aim would 
be to bring a final document, informed by the views gathered through the 
consultation process, back to the Health and Wellbeing Board in September.

Conclusions and Recommendations to Board:

1.0 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to approve:

 The draft document attached at Appendix 1 as the basis for a wider 
consultative exercise to commence later this month.

 A further report, accompanied by a draft strategic vision and action plan, to 
be presented to Health and Wellbeing Board.

Financial /Resource Implications:

There are no direct financial implications from this report.

Page 72



1

A Strategic Vision for Children & Young People in Gloucestershire 
(Outline for Consultative Purpose)

1.0 Context

Gloucestershire occupies a pivotal location in the UK, with Birmingham to the north, Bristol 
to the south, Oxford to the east and Cardiff to the west.  It is a large and diverse county 
combining urban localities, with areas of outstanding natural beauty and sites of Special 
Scientific Interest.  It has a population of 628,139 which, since 2007, has grown at a slower 
rate than England and Wales over the same period.  It is also an ageing population, with a 
declining number of residents available to work.  The population is also becoming more 
diverse with the proportion of BME residents increasing from 4.6% to 7.6% between 20001 
and 2011.

The population of children and young people aged 0-19 years is 141,355.  Young people tend 
to leave the county in their teens and early twenties, with a net loss of around 400 19-25 
year olds per year.  Although Gloucestershire generally benefits from a higher standard of 
living, around 3.4% of the county population live in areas that are in the 10% most deprived 
nationally.  It has two tier system of governance with a county council and six district 
councils.

2.0 Case For Change

Whilst there is no longer a statutory duty for upper tier local authorities to have an 
overarching plan or vision for children and young people, high performing areas tend to 
have a shared vision for children and young people in their locality.  There is also a 
continuing duty placed on the Director of Children’s Services and Lead Member for 
Children’s Services by Section 10 of The Children Act (2004) to promote co-operation 
between local agencies in order to improve the wellbeing of children in the authority’s area.  
This is distinct from the child safeguarding duties under Section 11.

The previous plan for children and young people – ‘Gloucestershire – works well for families: 
Gloucestershire Early Help and Children and Young People’s Partnership Plan 2015-18’ 
concluded in 2018.   The multi-agency partnership that oversaw its delivery has also ceased 
to meet since that time.  

The Public Health England (PHE):  Child Health Profile (March: 2019) provides a snapshot of 
child health and wellbeing on a local authority area basis.  This evidences that ‘overall, 
comparing local indicators with England averages, the health and wellbeing of children in 
Gloucestershire is better than England’.  While this can be viewed as broadly positive, there 
are some underlying issues:

 the gap between vulnerable/disadvantaged children and universal peers in 
Gloucestershire is too large and widening in some key aspects.

Page 73



2

 Performance is less positive when compared with statistical comparators – example: 
take up of 2 year old education offer, which is crucial to children’s subsequent 
progress, is marginally above England average but poor when compared to statistical 
comparators.

 there are a greater number of children in high intensity/cost parts of the system – 
the number of families subject to child protection enquires in Gloucestershire is 
greater than comparable localities with the implication that agencies are ‘over 
intrusive’ in family life.

 the levels of exclusion and electively home educated (EHE) children suggest the 
educational offer is not meeting the needs of all children - Gloucestershire’s EHE 
rate in March 2018 was 76.2 per 10, 000 4-17 yrs. old,  compared to 56.8 for England 
at that time, and increased to 89.5 in September 2019.

Taken together, these point to a system that is currently under performing in terms of 
outcomes for children with the capacity to deliver better outcomes through a greater degree 
of co-ordination of existing activity, along with the potential for greater integration and 
innovation moving forward.

3.0 Proposed Structure for Children’s Plan or Vision

The dialogue and consultation that has been underway over recent months has led to a 
broad consensus on how a plan/vision should be constructed.  Gloucestershire’s plan/vision 
for children and young people will:

 place the child at the heart of its ambition and cross sector activity.

 be universal, covering all children and young people aged 0-18 years, and up to 25 
years for care leavers and young people with additional needs.

 take a staged approach following the journey of the child from birth (including pre 
birth activity) to adulthood, based on the following phases:

-  0-5 years (Inc. pre-birth).
-  5-11 years
- 11-16 years
- 16-19 years
- 19-25 years  (for care leavers and young people with additional needs)

 seek to mobilise multi-agency and cross sector collaboration, within and between 
these phases in order to maximise impact.

• be aspirational moving from current performance, at or around England averages, to 
becoming top quartile for key indicators when compared with statistical neighbours.  

Page 74



3

Within that context, closing the gap for vulnerable/disadvantaged children and 
young people will be a further feature.

4.0 Progressing the Plan

The consultative events in October last year highlighted the proliferation of statutory and 
non-statutory plans and strategies for children and young people in Gloucestershire and the 
wide range of groups involved in oversight and delivery.  The development of a single 
overarching plan provides the opportunity to look again at those arrangements, 
acknowledging the overlapping needs of the cohorts of children they are concerned with.  

It is proposed that progress against the plan will be driven by a multi-agency partnership 
group, drawing upon senior leads from the voluntary, statutory and commercial sectors 
accountable in turn to the Health and Wellbeing Board and Leadership Gloucestershire.  This 
will complement the new arrangements for child safeguarding, led by Gloucestershire’s 
Safeguarding Children Executive, recently put in place to meet the requirements of Working 
Together 2018.  Over the longer term it may possible to merge the arrangements for child 
safeguarding and those promoting the wellbeing of children and young people set out in this 
report.

A comprehensive multi agency and cross sector action plan, refreshed on an annual basis, 
will provide the focal point for delivery activity and a co-ordinating mechanism for the wider 
range of activity to secure the well being of children and young people in Gloucestershire.  
An outline planning format is attached below for consultative purposes.

A key aim of the plan will be to ensure that the wider range of plans and strategies 
contribute towards a coherent ‘whole system’ approach that maximises the use of resources 
and ensures children and young people can access support when and where they need it.

The development and delivery of the plan will be informed by an ongoing authentic dialogue 
with children and young people.  How this is delivered will be a matter for further 
consultation and dialogue.

4.0 Strategic Vision and Priorities

Vision 2050 sets out an ambitious vision for a future Gloucestershire that is:

 An inclusive county:  we will ensure that the economic and social benefits of growth 
are felt by all.

 A magnet county:  we will see a growing working age population, by keeping and 
attracting more 18-40 year olds with high level qualifications, who want to live and 
work in the county.

 An innovative county: we will see more business starting up, growing and investing 
in research and innovation.

 A skilled county:  we will see more people with high-level skills and jobs in skilled 
occupations.

Page 75



4

 A prosperous county: we will see rising productivity and household income, offering 
higher living standards.

 A healthy, happy and safe county: we will ensure people have a good work/life 
balance and see improved health and wellbeing.

 A connected county:  we will see improved transport and internet connections so 
that people and businesses can connect with each other more easily.

 A sustainable county:  we will see more efficient use of resources and more use of 
sustainable energy.

5.0 Priorities for children and young people

Realising the ambition set out in Vision 2050 and working to create a ‘child friendly county’ 
will require Gloucestershire partners to prioritise and invest in its children and young people.   

In a ‘child friendly county’, all partners view children and young people as an asset to be 
valued and nurtured for the future, with a shared commitment towards ensuring:

 All children and young people are safe from harm.

This will involve concerted action to address the concerns about personal safety 
expressed by young people through the child friendly county and other recent 
consultation exercises. This encompasses safety, both actual and perceived, in the 
physical realm, including places to gather and socialise, and within the digital space.  
Some children also raised concerns about safety in the home.  

 All children and young people are supported to choose healthy lifestyles.

This will involve purposeful work to ensure we have an accessible health offer that 
addresses the physical, mental and emotional well being needs of children and 
young people across the county.

 All children and young people have access to safe affordable transport.

This will involve working to develop the capability for children and young people to 
make safe journeys and travel around the county on an accessible, sustainable and 
affordable basis. 

 All children and young people do well at all stages of learning and are equipped 
with the skills for life in the 21st Century.

This will involve purposeful cross sector work to ensure we have a local education 
offer that is inclusive and restorative in its approach by actively addressing the 
barriers preventing all young people from engaging in and achieving through 
learning.  This encompasses the skills and knowledge necessary for young people to 
engage in the dynamic and changing labour market of the 21st Century.

Page 76



5

 All children and young people are happy and able to have fun growing up

Working to ensure there are a good range of accessible and affordable recreational 
and cultural activities for children and young people.

 All children and young people enjoy the economic and social benefits of growth

Collective work to promote the interests of, and provide opportunities for, the most 
vulnerable children and young people in the county.

 All children and young people are able to contribute to making Gloucestershire a 
sustainable county

Working to ensure that children and young people in the county are able to make a 
meaningful contribution towards tackling the climate crisis.

Page 77



6

Name Priority LeadPriority All children and young people are safe from harm
Overall status Tick

 On target Outputs remain 
achievable

Comments 
about 
overall 
status:

  

 At risk Flagged for Sponsor 
attention

 Compromised

Significant performance 
issues with the project. 
Urgent and decisive 
action is needed

Reporting 
period: To

 Completed

Objectives  Delivera
bles 

Progress 
made this 
period:


Actions 
next 
period:

Key Milestones
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

P
age 78



7

Key Metrics
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

Date: 17 March 2020

To: The Health & Wellbeing Board

From: Chris Brierley, Chair of Safer Gloucestershire

Re: Update on Safer Gloucestershire activity 

1 Action Plan: The action plan has been reviewed and updated with assistance from 
the district community safety partnership and other partners.    As anticipated, much 
of the initial work has focussed on putting the necessary infrastructure and processes 
in place to enable Safer Gloucestershire to understand safer community activity 
across the county.

2 Thematic Groups under Safer Gloucestershire: The work to understand the impact 
and governance of safer community activity is taking longer than anticipated. It was 
agreed to hold a facilitated development session of Board members and others to 
progress this work.

3 Safer Gloucestershire Data Dashboard and District level data: A key ask from the 
Districts has been to improve the flow of performance information at locality level.  A 
process is now in place to provide locality IQuanta data to inform planning and 
delivery. Work has also progressed on a Safer Gloucestershire dashboard comprising 
a broad range of indicators linked to our priorities in order to provide the Board with 
an insight into progress and impact.  

4 Communications/Engagement Plan: An infographic has been developed 
summarising the Strategy which will be used for communications and engagement 
purposes.  The OPCC Communications Team will co-ordinate news items and social 
media and will attend the Board meetings when appropriate.  The Strategy and 
Board papers have been added to the OPCC website https://www.gloucestershire-
pcc.gov.uk/priorities/safer-gloucestershire/.

5 Task & Finish Groups: 

 Substance/alcohol misuse – This is at the data gathering, analysis, stakeholder 
and service user engagement stage. Progress will be presented to the Safer 
Gloucestershire Board in July 2020.

Page 81

Agenda Item 11

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/priorities/safer-gloucestershire/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/priorities/safer-gloucestershire/


2 | P a g e

 Information Sharing:  Although Gloucestershire has the GISPA (v4) and protocols 
for information sharing agreements in place, agencies are reviewing them and 
where needed information sharing agreements on an agency level is supported 
by strong governance. A Task & Finish Group have taken this work forward and 
will ask the Safer Gloucestershire Board to endorse and sign off the Information 
principles document at their next meeting in April.

 Social Isolation and Loneliness Deep Dive:  The Social Isolation and Loneliness 
Deep Dive and the Statement of Strategic Intent have been approved by Enabling 
Active Communities Group, Safer Gloucestershire Board and Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  Work is underway to implement the action plan. 

 Domestic Abuse/Sexual Violence: There are 4 ongoing Domestic Homicide 
reviews in the county, 3 of which are drawing to an end, once they have been 
submitted to the home office they will be returned for publication. We will look 
to hold a learning event once these have been published where by the learning 
from these DHRs and previous DHRs can be shared with professionals in a means 
to educate, inform and share learning. In the meantime DHRs and the learning 
from them remains a prominent feature in the county wide training currently 
offered to professionals in conjunction with the GSCE and other partners. 

A master action plan from all held DHRs in the county has been produced and in 
conjunction with both the Secretariat and Safer Glos board we will ensure the 
implementation of the recommendations. This will be in followed up with a 
presentation about the learnings and key themes from the DHRs in the county. 

The DASV communications plan for 20/21 is being produced and this will be 
disseminated to Safer Gloucestershire and all that sit on the board and they will 
be welcomed to share any planned activity or support for the agenda. 

The review of the DHR protocol is not due until June 2020.

 Violence Prevention : A county Violence Prevention Needs Assessment now 
complete and agreed leads in place for the identified themes:

 Data and Intelligence: Sophie Jarrett to lead on development if the Cardiff 
Model (working group established to drive this forward).

 Violent crime and the Night Time Economy: Police to lead alongside licencing 
teams 

 Community: District CSPs to lead on developing responses to their 
communities. Sophie currently supporting with establishing workshop plans 
and for Gloucester City, plans for a working group. 

 Risk Factors: Commissioning to lead with the specific focus on gaps in 
provision for children witnessing domestic abuse 

 Messaging and engagement: Sophie Jarrett to lead. Draft violence prevention 
communications plan developed. Public engagement activity planned to help 
shape key messages and violence prevention roadshows are in the planning 
stage to train professionals and raise awareness. 

Page 82



3 | P a g e

6 HMIP inspection of Gloucestershire’s Youth Offending Service: HMIP conducted a 
full inspection of Gloucestershire’s Youth Offending Services in October 2019 and the 
final report has been published.  HMIP have signalled their intention to review the 
out of court element of the current inspection framework and Gloucestershire’s 
Strategic Lead for Youth Offending Services, Kate Langley, has been invited to 
participate in that process.  

7 Children’s Inclusion Charter: A recent presentation by GCC Director Education 
highlighted the need for a multi-agency approach towards exclusions and EHE.  Work 
is being undertaken to improve the outcomes for children including the possible 
creation of an Inclusion Charter by the end of 2020.

8 Recommendation(s)

The Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to note the report.

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Report from the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment Steering 
Group

Item for 
decision or 
information?

For information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Author Katie Hopgood, Consultant in Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  

The Health and Well-being Board is responsible for assessing the needs of 
the local population in terms of the provision of pharmaceutical services. 
Every three years a revised Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) is 
required to be published; the next revision is due by April 2021. 

A Steering Group has been formed to bring together relevant stakeholders to 
update and review the findings of the needs assessment. Surveys will be 
distributed to local pharmacies and dispensing GP surgeries to ascertain 
current provision and to members of the public to invite feedback. 

A consultation version of the updated PNA will be prepared for comment by 
the HWB Board prior to the formal consultation period (which must be a 
minimum of 60 days). 
The HWB Board will also be asked to sign off the final PNA for publication in 
early 2021.
NHS England will use the published PNA to plan and commission future 
pharmaceutical services in Gloucestershire. 

Recommendations to Board: 

The Board is asked to:
 Review the timetable and approach for publishing the revised PNA, 

noting key dates for input from the HWB Board
 Promote the public engagement survey within their local 

constituencies.
Financial/Resource Implications: 
Small resource implications for consultation requirements. These are being 
kept to a minimum and will be met from within the existing Public Health Grant 
Allocation. 

Page 85

Agenda Item 12



1 Introduction and background

1.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 transferred the responsibility to 
develop and update pharmaceutical needs assessments (PNAs) to HWBs 
from April 2013. Prior to this time, PCTs held this responsibility as well as 
the additional responsibility of considering applications from persons 
wishing to provide pharmaceutical services for inclusion on a relevant list. 
Such applicants would need to prove they are able to meet a 
pharmaceutical need as set out in the PNA. 
 

1.2 From April 2013, the specific responsibility for using PNAs as the basis   
for determining market entry to a pharmaceutical list transferred from 
PCTs to NHS England. Persons included in a pharmaceutical list include:

 Pharmacy contractors (healthcare professionals who practice in 
pharmacy)

 Dispensing appliance contractors (suppliers on prescription of 
appliances such as stoma and incontinence aids, dressings, 
bandages etc.)

 Dispensing doctors – medical practitioners authorised to 
provide drugs and appliances in designated rural areas known 
as ‘controlled areas’

 Local pharmaceutical services (LPS) contractors who provide 
commissioned services tailored to specific requirements, but 
includes an element of dispensing.

1.3 PNAs are used by the NHS to make decisions on which NHS funded 
services need to be provided by local community pharmacies. Community 
pharmacies are a valuable and trusted public health resource. With 
millions of contacts with the public each day, there is real potential to use 
community pharmacy teams more effectively to improve health and 
wellbeing and to reduce health inequalities. Community pharmacy is an 
important investor in local communities through employment and through 
supporting neighbourhoods and high street economies. PNAs are also 
relevant when deciding if new pharmacies are needed, in response to 
applications by businesses, including independent owners and large 
pharmacy companies. Applications are often keenly contested by 
applicants and existing NHS contractors.

1.4 The current regulations (The National Health Service (Pharmaceutical 
and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013) make provisions 
for the conduct of PNAs. Regulation 5 states that each HWB must publish 
its first PNA by April 1st 2015. The last Gloucestershire PNA was 
published in March 2018. 

1.5 Under the previous guidance, Gloucestershire’s current PNA would need 

Page 86



to be revised by March 2021. The 2013 Regulations prescribe what a 
PNA should cover which includes a sixty day consultation period with 
specified stakeholders. In order to ensure a sufficient consultation period 
the next revision is scheduled to be published in March 2021, following 
sign-off by the HWB Board. 

2 Information to be contained in PNAs

2.1

2.2

Regulation 4 and Schedule 1 of the 2013 Regulations detail  the minimum 
requirements for PNAs which include statements on:

 Current provision of necessary services (both within the HWB 
locality area and nearby areas outside the locality)  

 Gaps in provision in terms of necessary services
 Current provision of other relevant services
 Gaps in provision of services that would secure improvements and 

better access to pharmaceutical services
 Other services
 How the assessment was carried out including a report on the 

consultation undertaken

The PNA should include pharmacies and the services they already 
provide. These will include dispensing, providing advice on health, 
medicines reviews and local public health services, such as stop smoking, 
sexual health and support for drug users. It should look at other services, 
such as dispensing by GP surgeries, and services available in 
neighbouring HWB areas that might affect the need for services in its own 
area.

2.3 The preparation and consultation on the PNA should take account of the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and other relevant strategies, 
including the Local Housing Needs Assessment 2019 in order to prevent 
duplication of work and multiple consultations with health groups, patients 
and the public. The development of PNAs is a separate duty to that of 
developing JSNAs as PNAs will inform commissioning decisions by local 
authorities (public health services from community pharmacies) and by 
NHS England and clinical commissioning groups (CCGs). 

3 Consultation

3.1 Regulation 8 sets out the requirements for consultation on PNAs, which 
must be undertaken for a minimum of 60 days (see appendix 1 for details 
on bodies that must be consulted). 

4 Matters to be regarded by the HWB

4.1 Regulation 9 sets out the matters HWBs must have regard to when 
developing their PNAs as far as is practicable to do so. These are:
 The demography of its area
 Whether there is sufficient choice with regard to obtaining 

pharmaceutical services

Page 87



 Any different needs of different localities in its area
 The pharmaceutical services provided in the area of any neighbouring 

HWB which affect the need for pharmaceutical services in its area, or 
whether further provision of pharmaceutical services in its area would 
secure improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services, or 
pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in its area

 Any other NHS services provided in or outside the area (not covered 
above) which affect the need for pharmaceutical services in its area, 
or whether further provision of pharmaceutical services in its area 
would secure improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical 
services, or pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in its area

 Likely future needs.

5 Proposed approach and timetable for production of the 
Gloucestershire PNA

5.1

5.2

The approach and timetable for updating the Gloucestershire PNA was 
developed and agreed by the PNA Steering Group which membership 
includes representation from:

 Gloucestershire County Council 
 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
 Gloucestershire Local Pharmaceutical Committee
 Gloucestershire Local Medical Committee
 Gloucestershire Dispensing Panel
 NHS England (South West)
 Healthwatch Gloucestershire

The timetable for the recommended approach ensures that relevant 
changes are reflected in the current PNA, a sufficient consultation period 
for stakeholders to comment, and that the revised PNA will be published 
before April 1st 2021, three years following the publication of the current 
PNA.

March 2020 PNA Steering Group Meeting 
April-September 
2020

Check validity of current PNA
Update demographic information and 
maps
Issue surveys to pharmacies and 
dispensing GP surgeries 
Launch a public survey 

By end September  
2020

Draft the revised PNA (consultation 
version) incorporating updated maps and 
survey findings 

Early October 2020 PNA Steering Group Meeting to review 

Page 88



updated information and survey 
responses 

October    2020 Draft PNA (consultation version) to the 
HWB Board for comments and 
approval

19 October 2020– 01 
January 2021

Consultation period to early February
February – finalise revised PNA

February 2021 Finalise revised PNA 
February – March 
2021

Sign-off by HWB
Publication

6 Recommendation

6.1 The HWB Board is asked to:
Review the timetable and approach for publishing the revised PNA, 

noting key dates for input from the HWB Board
Promote the public engagement survey within their local 

constituencies.

Page 89



Appendix 1

The National Health Service (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) 
Regulations 2013: Regulation 8:

HWBs must consult the bodies listed below at least once during the process of 
developing the PNA:
 Any Local Pharmaceutical Committee for its area (including a Local 

Pharmaceutical Committee for its area and that of one or more other Primary 
Care Trusts); 

 Any Local Medical Committee for its area (including a Local Medical Committee 
for its area and that of one or more other Primary Care Trusts); 

 The persons on its pharmaceutical lists and its dispensing doctors list (if it has 
one); 

 Any LPS chemist with whom PCT1 has made arrangements for the provision of 
any local pharmaceutical services; 

 Any relevant local involvement network, and any other patient, consumer or 
community group in its area which in the opinion of PCT1 has an interest in the 
provision of pharmaceutical services in its area; 

 Any local authority with which PCT1 is or has been a partner PCT; 
 Any NHS Trust or NHS Foundation Trust in its area; and 
 Any neighbouring Primary Care Trust. 

Page 90


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Climate change and air quality
	Appendix 1 CC and AQ HWB March 2020

	8 Agreement of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	9 Housing and health priority update on progress
	10 Child Friendly Gloucestershire strategy - Update
	A Strategic Vision for Children and Young People in Gloucestershire AD COMMENTS

	11 Safer Gloucestershire Update on Activity
	12 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment

